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VISION
STATEMENT

To be recognized as a reliable and sustainable Financial Support System that

consistently delivers on its Promises.

To demonstrate visionary and responsible leadership in the administration of the
National Insurance program, and to create an environment where staff are

well-trained, motivated, committed to integrity and accountability.

To ensure the efficient collection of contributions, as well as the timely and accurate

payment of the relevant Benefits and Assistance.

To achieve customer service excellence in the delivery of the National Insurance

mandates.

To advance the prudent investments of the National Insurance Fund for the overall

growth and development of The Bahamas.
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LETTER TO THE MINISTER

August 11, 2023

The Honourable Myles LaRoda, M.P.

Minister of State in the Office of the Prime Minister
Sir Cecil Wallace Whitfield Centre

P.O. Box CB 10980

Nassau, N.P., The Bahamas

Dear Minister LaRoda:

RE: THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD’S 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

In accordance with the Section 47(1) of the National Insurance Act, 1972, | have the privilege of
submitting to you, on behalf of the Members of the Board, the Annual Report of the National

Insurance Board for the year.

Included with this report are the accounts of the National Insurance Fund as certified by the
Auditor, pursuant to Section 47(1) of the National Insurance Act, 1972, together with the report
of the Auditor. Included therein is the account of securities in which monies forming part of the

National Insurance Fund are invested.

Sincerely yours,

o

Philip Mckenzie, FLMI, HIA (Mr.)
Chairman
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ABOUT THE
NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD

T N el T

The National Insurance programme was established on December 12, 1972
with the signing into law of the National Insurance Act, 1972. The National
Insurance Board (NIB), the organization charged with administrating the

social security programme, opened its doors officially on October 7, 1974.

lts primary mission was and is to provide income-replacement. NIB covers
employed and self-employed persons for three main types of social security
benefits - short-term (sickness, maternity, unemployment), long-term

(retirement, invalidity, survivors) and industrial (employment injury) benefits.

The system is financed by contributions that are levied on employment
earnings up to a wage ceiling and are paid by employers, employees

and self-employed persons.

NIB’s secondary mission in the administration of the country’s social
security programme is to provide assistance for disadvantaged citizens

under specific circumstances and to assist with infrastructural development

of the country.

Surplus funds are invested in various types of securities and properties. The
reserves of the National Insurance Fund (NIF) stand at approximately $1.44
billion with an active insured persons base of approximately 142,000

and monthly pension payments for over 45,000 pensioners.
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MINISTER

The Honourable Myles LaRoda, M.P.
Minister of State in the Office of the
Prime Minister

Philip McKenzie, KC, FLMI, HIA Theofanis Cochinamogulos
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COMMITTEES

OPERATIONS COMMITTEE
Michelle Pindling-Sands - Chairman
Philip McKenzie - Member

Theofanis Cochinamogulos - Member
Daniel Thompson - Member

Theressa Thompson - Member
Rozalia Bowe - Member

Lisa Turnguest - Member

FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE
Theofanis Cochinamogulos - Chairman
Leana Ingraham - Member

Timothy Ingraham - Member

Theressa Thompson - Member

Don Williams - Member

Torez Hanna - (co-opt)

INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE
Lisa Turnquest - Chairman

Philip McKenzie- Member

Rozalia Bowe- Member

Theofanis Cochinamogulos - Member
Leana Ingraham - Member

Theressa Thompson - Member

Torez Hanna - (co-opt)
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BUILDINGS COMMITTEE
Leana Ingraham - Chairman
Philip McKenzie - Member
Amancha Williams - Member
Don Williams - Member

Daniel Thompson - Member
Lisa Turnquest - Member

HUMAN RESOURCES
COMMITTEE

Daniel Thompson - Chairman
Philip McKenzie - Member
Amancha Williams - Member
Michelle Pindling-Sands - Member
Timothy Ingraham - Member
Rozalia Bowe - Member

Don Williams - Member

TENDERS & CONTRACTS

COMMITTEE

Philip McKenzie - Chairman
Amancha Williams - Member
Michelle Pindling-Sands - Member
Leana Ingraham - Member
Timothy Ingraham - Member
Rozalia Bowe - Member

Lisa Turnquest - Member
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EXECUTIVE

Gertrude Holder

**Medical Officer

: J e (Effective March 1, 2022)
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Sonia Gill.

*Director
(Effective May 14, 2022)
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Whitney Patton
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Paula Knowles Hunter Heather Maynard Damian Forbes

***Acting Financial Controller Legal Officer Deputy Director
(Effective May 18, 2022) Investments and Compliance

Sherelle Saunders Kevin Knowles Jeff Moncur
Deputy Director Deputy Director Deputy Director
Talent Management and Information Technology Core Services - Family Islands,
Capacity Development (Effective March 1, 2022) Buildings and Facilities
(Effective May 8, 2022) (Effective March 1, 2022)

Tami Francis Indira Archer
“***Deputy Director Assistant Director
Core Services - New Providence Core Services - New Providence
and Actuarial Services (Effective JUIVIE, 2
(Effective March 8, 2022)
23 ‘r
*James Moss served as Director until February 16, 2022 with Sonia Gill serving as Acting Director from February 17, 2022 -
until May 14, 2022 v
**Patrick Whitfield served as Medical Officer until June 30, 2022
***Sonia Gill served as Financial Controller until February 16, 2022
****Rhonda Ingraham served as Assistant Director, Core Services- Claims and Benefits, New Providence until December 1, 2022
Waldon Russell served as a Board Member until July 1, 2022
a
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FOREWORD

CELEBRATING SHORT-TERM GAINS

As we reflect on the milestones achieved in 2022, it is evident that we stand at a pivotal juncture,
marked by resilience, adaptation, and forward momentum. The year, akin to 2021, commenced with
a beacon of hope, signaling a robust recovery for our domestic economy from the profound impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

This resurgence not only invigorated our spirits but also translated into tangible gains for the
National Insurance Fund with Contribution income on a continuous upward trend surpassing the
pre-pandemic benchmark of 2019, and Investment income considerable up from the extreme dip

experienced in 2020, and slightly up from income realized in 2019.

It was this growth in Contribution income, realized investments and the Fund’s ability to utilize liquid
and near-term assets to pay the increasing cost of Benefits that allowed for a reduction in deficiency

over income in 2022 compared to 2021.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Total Net Contribution Income $290.5 m $257.7 m $226.0 m $287.1m
Investment Income $69.3 m $77.4 m £45.2 m $68.5 m
Deficiency of Income over Expenditure -§57.1m -$60.4 m -5189.5 m -%B.5m

UNDERSTANDING LONG-TERM CHALLENGES

Despite the steady gains post-pandemic, there were headwinds that would have to be maneuvered
for both The Bahamas and for the sustainability of the National Insurance Fund. For NIB, 2022
recorded a deficit for the seventh consecutive year reflecting predictions from the 11th Actuarial
Review that was released earlier in the year. Comparative analysis favorably illustrate that Investment
income steadily outpaced Administrative expenses, with the exception of the year 2020, while

too much dismay, Contribution income has trailed the rising cost of Benefit expenditure.
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CONTRIBUTION INCOME VS. INVESTMENT INCOME VS.
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Findings of the Actuarial Review

The Eleventh Actuarial Review as of December 31, 2018 was released at the end of February 2022.
The report was daunting indicating, as done in previous reports, that the long-term sustainability of
the Fund is in jeopardy of being depleted by the year 2028, just one year earlier than predicted in

previous reports.

Sited as key influencers impacting the sustainability of the Fund are demographics trends that
adversely impact Benefit Expenditure and Contribution Income. These changes have most
certainly indicated that the current National Insurance rate, that has remained unchanged except for
the inclusion of the Unemployment Benefit Branch in 2010, can no longer support the modernized,

evolved and expanded social security programme that currently exist.

Initial discussions have commenced with NIB strongly considering recommendations offered by the
International Labour Organization (ILO) for a gradual phased-in rate of 1.5% every two years to ease
the burden on employers and employees while also allowing consideration for future socioeconomic
conditions within the Bahamas. With these considerations in mind, action can no longer be delayed
if we are to protect the social safety net which generations of Bahamians have come to depend on.
The time to act is NOW!

In NIB’s 48th year, we draw strength from our triumphs, guided by a steadfast commitment
to preserve the legacy of security and support that defines our National Insurance
system. We are driven by our customers’ demand for excellence, innovation, efficiency, and the
enduring bonds that unite us as a community. Together, we navigate the seas of uncertainty,

charting a course towards a future defined by resilience, prosperity, and unwavering solidarity.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS

END OF YEAR RESERVES

The deficit narrowed slightly by $3.3 million from $60.4 million in 2021 to $57.1 million in 2022,
reducing total reserves to $1.440 billion. Total reserves at year-end were positively influenced
by small gains in Contribution and Investment income and reduced by increasing Benefits
expenditure. Administrative costs remained relatively unchanged. This section of the Report clearly
details these findings. Additional details, with numbers and values by local office, can be found in

the Statistical Appendix of this Report.

TOTAL COMPREHEMSIVE INCOME/LOSS END OF YEAR RESERVES
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Net Contribution Income Upward Trajectory

In the 2022 fiscal year, total Net Contribution Income grew to $290.5 million, marking a remarkable
12.7% increase from the previous year and surpassing the 2019 pre-pandemic benchmark of $287.1
million. This upward trajectory owes its momentum not only to external economic rebounds but
also to internal factors like the increase in the weekly wage ceiling from $710 to $740, the increase in

the number of actively insured persons and diligent enforcement of compliance measures.
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Growth in Contribution Income Across Local Economies
The collective improvement in Contribution payments across various islands reflects the resilience,

progress and recovery, within our local economies, post the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic and
Hurricane Dorian in 2019.

Several islands, including Eleuthera, Long Island and Crooked Island and Acklins, demonstrated
particularly favorable trends, surpassing both income collected pre-pandemic figures of 2020 and
pre-2019 Hurricane Dorian figures.

Notably, Abaco exhibited substantial growth, with a net increase of $1.6 million, representing a 24.2%
rise from 2021. However, while Abaco’s Contribution income exceeded the COVID-19 figure of $3.5

million, income still fell short of 2018 pre-Hurricane Dorian income of $10.2 million.

Fund Contributors as of December 31, 2022
The number of persons contributing to the Fund increased by 5.1% reflecting an increase in all

categories. Self-employed contributors increased by 26.7%.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022 2021 % CHANGE
# of Contributing Employers 12,488 1,297 10.5%
# of Contributing Self-Emploved Perscns 8,566 6,761 26.7%
# of Active Employees (Estimate) 133,000 127,000 3.9%

Registration

Each year, the number of persons contributing to the National Insurance Fund is directly impacted
by the number of new active persons entering the system each year. Both the number of new active
insured persons and the number of new inactive insured persons were up. New registrations
by secondary accounts were significantly down in 2022, self-employed persons were up, and

the number of new employers was relatively unchanged from 2021 to 2022.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NEW REGISTRATIONS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

TYPE 2022 2021 % CHANGE
Employers 13.855 13,901 -0.3%
Self-Employed Persons 2,488 2,336 6.5%
Secondary Accounts 656 1,358 -51.7%
Active Insured Persons 2,903 607 378.3%
Inactive Persons 1,188 6,345 76.3%

Compliance Efforts Reap Rewards

In recent years, the need for greater compliance efforts has launched a series of initiatives intended
to make it easier for employers to meet their obligations. One such effort is through Installment
Agreements which gives the employer the ability to make partial monthly payments towards
outstanding arrears while also fulfilling their current monthly contribution commitments.
Although the amount collected in overall Installment Agreements was down 31.9% from 2021, the
amount collected through Installment Agreements by way of prosecutions hit a record high of
$676,470.70. A total of 709 prosecutions were actioned in 2022.

Investment Portfolio Provides Cushion of Stability

Amidst economic flux, NIB’s investment portfolio provided a beacon of stability. Positive shifts in
the residential real estate and banking sectors, particular the increase in share price for Bank of the
Bahamas, Commonwealth Bank, and Commonwealth Brewery, positively influenced the Fund’s
investment return for the year. Astute maneuvers in Bahamas USD bonds presented an investment
opportunity to purchase on the short-end of the yield curve, which has already materialized into

gains for the Fund.

The continuous income generated from the Bahamas Registered Stocks and the liquidity from the
certificate of deposits, provided a cushion of stability as the economy recovers. Additionally, the

outstanding payments owed to NIB by sector entities are steadily increasing.

While the investment portfolio provided some stability, the average return during 2022 was 5.0%,
down from 5.5% in 2021. Investment income declined by $8.1 million, or 10.5%, from $77.4 million
in 2021 to $69.3 million and holdings of certificates of deposit declined from $6.6 million to nil.
Despite these daunting figures, at the end of 2022, the National Insurance Fund investments stood

at $1.166 billion relatively unchanged from 2021.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022 2021 % CHANGE
Year-end Investments $1,166 m $1,165 m 0.0%
Yield on Investments 5.0% 5.5% -9.1%

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Investment income earned on reserves remains an important component of the Fund finances.
The Fund remains heavily invested (80%) in public sector securities - Government of the Bahamas

debt, real estate finance leases, and quasi-government debt.

INVESTMENT MIX BY ASSET CLASS INVESTMENT MIX BY LOCATION
DECEMBER 2022

DECEMBER 2022

BENEFIT EXPENDITURE

Claims Received, Awarded and Paid

The number of claims received, awarded and paid was up in 2022 resulting in an increase in Benefit
expenditure for short-term, long-term and Industrial Benefits. This increase could be attributed to
efforts by the Customer Service Department, Central Benefits Department and the Occupational
Health and Safety Unit to streamline the claims’ intake process to ensure fully completed Benefit
applications are received thereby improving claims’ registration, adjudication and social reports

resulting in reduced wait times for claimants waiting to receive a Benefit.

Overall claims received was up by 6.5% reflecting an increase in short-term Benefit claims and a
significant increase in the number of Industrial Benefit claims received. The increase in short-term
Benefits was due mostly to the increase in Sickness claims while the increase in Industrial Benefits
was due mostly to Medical Care. For long-term Benefits, there was a decline in the number of claims

received.

There was an increase in the number of claims awarded for all three Benefit types with long-term
Benefits and Industrial Benefits reflecting a 24.5% and 31.1% increase respectively. The increase in the
number of claims awarded for long-term Benefits was in part due to an increase in Retirement and
Survivors Benefit claims. Increase in Industrial Benefits awarded was mainly due to the award of the

Injury Benefit and corresponding award of Medical Benefit.

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS RECEIVED

BENEFIT TYPE 2022 2021 % CHANGE
Long-term (pensions) 5307 5,458 -2.7%
Short-term 24,8986 24,042 3.6%
Industrial 5,752 4270 34.7%
Total 35,955 33,768 6.5%

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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SUMMARY OF CLAIMS AWARDED

BENEFIT TYPE 2022 2021 WCHANGE
Long-term (pensions) 4,626 3716 24.5%
Short-term 21,097 20,828 1.3%
Industrial 4n4 3338 31.1%
Total 29,837 27,682 7.8%

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS PAID

BENEFIT TYPE 2022 2021 %CHANGE
Long-term $301.6 m $282.6'm B.7%
Short-term £313 m $278m 12.6%
Industrial $20.6 m $17.0 m 21.2%
Total $353.5m $327.5m B.0%

BENEFIT EXPENDITURE
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Benefits Expenditure increased by $26.1 million, or 8.0%, from $327.5 million in 2021 to $353.5
million. The increase in short-term expenditure was mainly due to an increase in Unemployment
Benefit payments while increases in Injury Benefit and Medical Care payments were the primary
reasons Industrial Benefit expenditure increased. Retirement Benefit explained most of the increase
observed in long-term Benefit expenditure. Retirement Benefit increased by $18.2 million, or 7.9%,
from $231.1 million to $249.3 million in 2022.

Long-term Benefits still account for the largest part of Benefit Expenditure. At the end of 2022,
over 45,000 persons were in receipt of monthly pension payments. This increase in pensions
is expected as more new pensioners are added than taken away. The number of pensions in
payment increased for three of the five Benefit types (the exceptions being Disablement
and Death) but decreased for all three Assistance types. This increase in the pension branch is
predicted to have an upward trend as the scheme is faced with the increase in life expectancy

resulting in persons receiving a pension over a longer period of time.
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PENSIONS IN PAYMENT AT YEAR-END

BENEFIT/ASSISTANCE 2022 2021
Retirement Benefit 31,361 30,066
Invalidity Benefit 2,659 2,647
Survivors Benefit 6,008 5,704
Old-age Non-contributory Pension 1,191 1,223
Invalidity Assistance 2,349 2,379
Survivors Assistance 161 176
Disablement Beneafit 1,272 1,288
Death Benefit 31 37
Total 45,032 43,520

NATIONAL PRESCRIPTION DRUG PLAN

The Drug Plan continues its efforts to monitor closely the various groupings of beneficiaries to
ensure eligibility, equal access, and proper utilization of the Plan. In 2022, the total number of Active
Members was 39,614. This was an increase by 6.9% from the number of Active Members in 2021.
Deaths, periodic eligibility, regrouping, and terminations continuously impact the ‘Total Member
Count by Group’. The top three registered beneficiaries are Retirees, Government Employees and

the indigent (which only this year rose above the Student under age 18 group).

The top three conditions most commonly seen were hypertension, diabetes and
hypercholesterolemia. The conditions with the highest cost consisted of diabetes, hypertension, and

glaucoma respectively, followed closely by hypercholesterolemia.

CONDITIONS Total Sum Paid 2021 Total Sum Paid 2022
Diabetes 912,081.01 979,393.09
Hypertension 586,701.67 501,634.81
Glaucoma 271,012.43 271,869.09
CONDITIONS Prescription Totals 2021 Prescription Totals 2022
Hypertension 44847 47595
Diabetes 41,927 40,630
Hypercholesterolemia 14,552 12,074

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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AROUND THE BOARD

j——

EXCELLENCE THROUGH INNOVATION, EFFICIENCY, LEADERSHIP AND COMMUNITY

For NIB, key to charting the way forward, beyond the 2019 and 2020 crisis and amidst long term
challenges regarding the sustainability of the National Insurance Fund, would entail perusing
organizational excellence through innovative processes, efficient and competent service, inspired

and motivated leaders and by fostering internal and external community with stakeholders.

Innovation

EzRENEW Card Renewal Portal - A successful soft launch of the EZRENEW portal was carried out to
test the online card renewal process in preparation for the eventual rollout. The soft launch offered
staff and selected customers the opportunity to be the first users of the online tool for the renewal
of their expired cards. For this test, various categories of persons were selected including members
of staff, seniors and family island residents. Also, essential in the testing phase was the need to test
the tool’s overall functionality when using various devices such as desktops, laptops, tablets and

cellular phones.

Photo caption: NIB staff renew their cards via the newly developed portal using various devices to test the tool’s overall functionality.
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BTC INKNOWVATION Small Business Conference Collaboration - The Bahamas
Telecommunications Company (BTC) Inknowvation Conference collaboration was an opportunity
to provide valuable information to small business owners and to introduce small businesses to
simplified ways to conduct business with NIB through innovative technology. As one of the featured
entities, NIB participated in an educational panel discussion. At the NIB booth, business owners could
request a live demonstration of the portal’s functionality, learn about the benefits of using the portal
and sign-up for a user account. NIB participated in similar initiatives throughout the year to promote
the use of the Employer Self Service (ESS) portal to submit contribution statements and make

contribution payments. By the end of the year, over 3,200 employers were signed up to use the

portal.
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Photo caption: NIB’s Rochelle Rolle participates in BTC’s Small Business Photo caption: Queen’s College

InKnowvation Conference panel discussion representative signs-up for use of the
portal
Efficiency

Employer Self Service (ESS) Portal Training - Key to increasing the number of businesses using the
ESS portal is ongoing efforts to ensure staff are knowledgeable about the portal, have hands-on
expertise and are capable of selling the portal’s attributes to customers. The ESS team facilitated
a number of training workshops geared toward building capacity amongst inspectors and Family

Island mangers on the use of the portal.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Speakers Bureau Recruitment and Training - With the resurgence of in-person speaking
engagements in 2022, the Public Relations Department, in collaboration with Training, launched
a recruitment and training workshop to educate and equip staff interested in serving as speaking
ambassadors on behalf of NIB. At the completion of the course, participants were able to make
presentations regarding NIB’s processes, policies, Benefits and Assistance to over 30 private,

government and quasi-government organizations throughout the year.

R
Miony) Preseription pro®

Photo caption: Jenee Meadows makes presentation during the Speakers Bureau Training

Inspector Recruitment and Training - Cognizant of long-term challenges ahead, an invigorating
focus was placed on the need for greater Contributions compliance resulting in the hiring of twenty
inspectors throughout New Providence and the Family Islands. With the employment of additional
inspectors, it is hoped that long-standing arrears will be reduced, better inspector/employer

coverage would be experienced nationwide and overall inspector productivity would increase.

G.E.M. Awards Compliance Initiative - To enhance overall compliance efficiency, another measure
implemented entailed fostering performance by through incentivized standardized benchmarks.
In 2022, the Compliance department initiated the “Going the Extra Mile” (GEM) Awards program.
Under this program, the top three inspectors who conducted the highest number of inspections
while meeting their monthly budget target were recognized with a certificate with the overall

winner receiving a special gift.
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Photos caption: Recipients of the GEM Certificate

Leadership

PMU/NIB sign 5 Year Industrial Agreement - Pioneering excellence into the future would not be
possible without an appreciation of the important role managers play in driving progress. In August,
the Public Managers Union (PMU) and NIB signed a 5-year industrial agreement. The Agreement
would enforce conditions that are crucial in protecting the rights and interests of managers,

promoting fair and equitable treatment in the workplace, and to fostering a positive and productive

1

work environment for some 155 managers.

Photo caption: PMU representatives, NIB Executives and Board Members reach new Industrial Agreement
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New Director Appointed - For the first time in NIB’s history, a female employee was elevated to
the position of Acting Director and later confirmed as Director and Chief Executive Officer. Mrs.
Sonia Gill prior to her appointment served NIB for nearly 30 years, previously holding the position
of Financial Controller. Given Sonia’s extensive tenure, she brought a wealth of historical insight,
financial prudence, an understanding of internal processes, an in-depth knowledge of statuary

policy and an appreciation of social security preservation.

Leadership Conclaves - Throughout 2022, several leadership conclaves were convened. In January,
a leaders’ retreat took place on the island of Grand Bahama under the theme “And Still We Rise:
Overcoming Challenges, Soaring Towards Success.” The overarching objective was to regroup,
refocus, recommit, and rejuvenate. The staff from the islands of Abaco and Bimini were also a part
of this empowering experience. In June, a conclave was held for the Executive Management team,
during which they provided insights into the operations of their respective departments to the newly
appointed Board Members. Themed “Reshaping the Future of NIB,” this conclave aimed to elucidate
strategic visions. In November, a leadership conclave was convened for middle management to

deliberate on the principles of management and leadership.

Photo caption: Participants in Grand Bahama’s Leaders Conference given team building and individual development assignments
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International Labour Organization Seeks NIB’s Expertise - Delegations from the International
Labour Organization (ILO) along with officials representing the Jamaican social security programme,
visited NIB to conduct a comprehensive study of NIB Unemployment Benefit Branch. This visit
came at the cusp of the widespread unemployment triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic. The visit
spanned two days, during which visiting delegates were able exchange insights and expertise with

NIB’s various operational departments, study NIB’s Act and Regulations and interact with clients.

Photo caption: ILO delegates and officials representing the Jamaican social security programme meet with NIB representatives.
International Social Security Association (ISSA) Forum - Director Sonia Gill received an invitation
from ISSA to participate in a panel discussion on Promoting Employment and Protecting the
Unemployed during the World Social Security Forum 2022. The event was held in Marrakech,
Morocco from October 24 - 28, 2024 under the theme “Social Security Resilient and Inclusive

Societies”. In attendance were over 1,000 participants and 160 countries.
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Photo caption: Director Sonia Gill, in attendance at ISSA World Social Security Forum 2022, poses with other delegates.
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Community

Professional Community Fairs - The National Insurance Board participated in a number of Fairs
during the course of the year. These opportunities allowed NIB access to various audiences and
the ability to educate about National Insurance Benefits and Assistance, operational processes,
trouble shoot customer queries, showcase live online demonstrations and sign customers up for

various user accounts.
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Photo caption: The Atlantis exposition provided NIB with the opportunity to interact with over 600 staff.
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Photo caption: NIB attends the First Central Government Agency Fair in Grand Bahama hosted for residents to obtain vital information
from various government agencies
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Staff Relations - With COVID-19 pandemic in the review mirror, the Board took significant
strides in fostering staff engagement within the organization. Recognizing the importance of
reconnecting in person, several programs that were put on hold were reintroduced such as the
staff Christmas party and Anniversary celebrations. The Long Service Awards, which was held

virtually in 2021, was once again held as an in-person formal event.

The health and wellness challenge, now in its second reiteration post-COVID-19, continues to
promote employee well-being and camaraderie. Additionally, the Board forged a partnership
with the Salvation Army, underscoring its commitment to community engagement and social
responsibility. These initiatives not only signify a return to normalcy but also reflect the Board’s

dedication to fostering excellence through a supportive and inclusive workplace environment.

Health and Wellness Fitness Challenge
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Photo caption: A day in Grand Bahama’s Health and Wellness Challenge

Long Service Awards
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Photo caption: The 2022 Long Service Awards celebrated 43 staff members, serving between 10 - 40 years
of employment, and honoured 13 retirees.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022

29



30

Forty-eighth Anniversary Celebrations

&

Photos caption: NIB executives take the lead to celebrate NIB’s 48th anniversary. Left photo (L-R): Minister Myles LaRoda, Director
Sonia Gill and Chairman Philip Mckenzie attend celebrations at the Freeport Local Office. Right photo (L-R): Board member Timothy
Ingraham and Deputy Chairman Theofanis Cochinamogulos attend Customer Appreciation Day at NIB’s headquarters.
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Photo caption: Anniversary Celebration at Fresh Creek, Andros Local Office
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Salvation Army Red Kettle Bell Fundraiser - NIB staff from the islands of New Providence, Grand

Bahama and Eleuthera partnered with The Salvation Army’s “Love Beyond Christmas” Red Kettle

)

Bell fundraiser to provide assistance to those in need.
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Photos caption: New Providence staff all smiles raising funds to benefit The Salvation Army.

Photos caption: Staff on the islands of Eleuthera (left) and Grand Bahama (right) donate time to The Salvation Army’s charity drive.
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Independent auditors’ report

To the Government of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consoclidaied financial statements present fairly, in all malerial respects, the
consalidated financial position of The National Insurance Fund and its subsidiary (together ‘the Fund') as
at December 31, 2022, and their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Fund's consolidated financial statements comprise:;

the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022;
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in reserves for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

a & & & @

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audifors’ responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial stafements section of our report,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Intermational Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consoclidated financial
slatements in accordance with International Financial Reporling Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2 Bayside Executive Park, West Bay Street & Blake Road, P.O. Box N-3910
Nassau, Bahamas, T: + 1 242 302 5300, F: + 1 242 302 5350, www.pwe.com/bs
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Those charged with governarce are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statemenis
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with |1SAs will always detect 8 material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or errar and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consoclidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or ermor, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a materal misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

& Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

# Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continug as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern,

# Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consoclidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
fransactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Fund to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Government of the
Commonwealth of The Bahamas in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other
purpose. We do not, In glving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to
any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Chartered Accountants
Nassau, The Bahamas

ﬁ}mwajm Mﬁm{me

August 11, 2023
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The National Insurance Fund

(Established under the laws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Buhamian dollars)

ASSETS
Cash on hand and at banks
Receivables and advances

Prepaid expenses and deposits

Investments
Equity securities
Sovereign
Bahamas Government registered stocks
Bahamas Government BS notes
Bahamas Government treasury hills
Bahamas Government US$ notes
Bahamas Government UIS$ loan
Government ol Barbados USS bonds
Government of Trinidad & Tobagoe USS bonds

Corporate
Certificates of deposit
Bahamas Mortgage Corporation bonds
Nassau Airport Development Company Limiled debt securities
Education Loan Authority bonds
Bahamas Power and Light Company Limited bonds
Preference shares
Clifton Heritage Authority bonds
Latm American Investment Bank (Bahamas) [1d. bonds
Loans to Bahamas Government entities
Long-term deposits
Bridge Authority bonds
Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited notes
The College of The Bahamas redeemable term notes
Pubhe Hospital Authority bonds
Be Aliv notes
Corporate USS bonds

Allowance for expected credit losses
Net investment in finance leases

Invesiment property

Total investments
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The accompanying notes are an itegral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021

$ $
130,738 91.391
84,030 182.136
881 §59
215,649 274,386
83.615 T5.070
463 331 479 368
1.415 2,847
1,761 1,717
61,338 30,253
12,150 13,513
2,455 2,453
2,046 2,057
544,496 532,208
. 6,564
95,894 95,894
95.132 91.678
30,370 30,542
18,576 18,573
10,500 10.500
7,993 7,993

- 3.503

55,584 58,104
8,477 8,230
1,856 1,856

: 804

738 923
7,429 8,104
900 1,000
1.610 4,133
335,059 348.401
879,555 880,609
{29.105) (23.771)
850,450 R56,838
228,577 230,218
3.307 3,307
231 R84 233.525
1,165,949 1,165,433
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The National Insurance Fund
{Established under the laws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamzas)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)
Nates 2022 2021
5 b
ASSETS (Continued)
Computer software 11 8,847 9.967
Property and equipment 12 83,613 87,601
Construetion in progress — [inance leases 13 24,950 23,117
117,410 120,685
TOTAL ASSETS 1,499,008 1,560,504
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 14 12,008 11,862
Staff pension find 15 31,904 38,925
Accrued benefits payable 15,461 16,588
TOTAL LIABILITIES 390,373 67,375
RESERVES
Short=term benefits 30 145,626 111,225
Pensions 30 1,134 151 1221 544
Indusirial benefiis 30 68,221 64,741
Medical benefits 30 90,549 89,787
Ihsablement and death benefits 30 512 5,256
Fidelity bond 30 576 576
TOTAL RESERVES 1,439,635 1,493,129
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND RESERVES 1,499,008 1,560,504

APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY:

— : i—- d qu F\-U

Chairman Director

Acting Finaneial Controller

July 272023
Date

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated [inancial statements.
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The National Insurance Fund
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

INCOME
Contributions
Emplovers
Tnsured persons

Self~employed persons
Voluntanly insured

Refund of contributions

Allowance for expected credit losses - contributions
Total net contributions

Income [rom investments

Tncome from property

Oiher income

TOTAL INCOME

Notes

23

2022 2021

$ $
172,095 151,981
115,286 102,308
7,604 5,075

4 1
294,989 260,275
(697) (499)
(3,788) (2,080
290,504 257,687
66,007 74,154
3 298 3270
2.555 4.341
362 364 339,452

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The National Insurance Fund

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

{Continued)

Notes 2022 2021

5 b

EXPENDITURE
Benefits expenditure
Short-term 31,262 27,846
Pensions 301,641 282 585
Tndustrial 12,042 5771
Disablement and death B.585 827
Total benefits expenditure 353,530 327,473
Administrative expenditure
Staff salaries. allowances and benclits 22 40,870 39,644
Expenses of the Board of Directors 392 190
Amortisahion 11 L1417 1,273
Depreciation 12 2245 2318
Other adminmistrative expenses 21 11.602 10,529
Total administrative expenditure 56,526 53,954
Provision for expected eredit losses 23 5.679 14,632
Expenditure of the medical benefits branch
Administrative expenditure 792 780
Drepreciation 12 2.907 3,032
Total expenditure of the medical benefits branch 3,699 3,812
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 419,434 399871
DEFICIENCY OF INCOME OVER EXPENDITURE (57,070) (60.419)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
."l.':v:m.-f that vwidl nat be reclassiBed auvbsaeguontly o jaocame
Remeasurement of the defined benefit obligation 3436 9.136
Uneclaimed benefits 140 138
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (53,494) {51,145)

The nccompanying noles are an integml part of these consolidated nancial stalements.
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The National Insurance Fund

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Short-term Pensions
Noles 022 021 2022 2021
% 5 ] b
INCOME
Total net contmbutions 72,626 G422 194,637 172,650
Income [rom mvestments 1.474 (it 63,647 T3.089
[necme from prioperty - - 1181 1158
Share of losses of associates B 2 = -
Periodically pavable disablement and death
henefits transfemed from meome and
expenditure account of industrial bencfins branch:
Disablement 19 - - - -
Death 19 - - - -
Other income 639 1,085 638 1,085
TOTAL INCOME 74,739 b6, 185 260,103 247,982
EXPENDITURE
Benefils expenditure
Sickness benefit 11,183 11,085 - -
Unemplovment bencfit 7.602 4017 = =
Maternity benefit 0,493 6,022 - -
Funeral benefit 4,569 3,394 - -
Matermity grant 1415 1318 - -
Sickness assistance - - - -
Renremen! benglit - = 248276 13,064
Survivors' benefn - - 24,794 24015
Invalidity benehit - - 13.826 13,641
Invahdity assistance - - #6083 X537
0ld age non~-contributory retirement benefit . - 4,556 4,720
Survivors® assistance - - 501 5HE
Medical care 2 = - -
Injury hemefit - - - -
Disablement grant - - - -
Payment of current peniodically pavable
benelits effecied dunng the vear:
Dizablement 19 = = = =
Desth 149 S - - -
31,262 17.840 31.641 182,585
Disablement benehi — capual value - - - -
Death benefil - capital value
Admimstrative expendinure 9.138 B.526 43656 42 068
Provision fonr expected credit losses - - 5,679 14,632
TOTAL EXPFENRITURE 40,401 36,372 350,976 339,185
EXCESS/(DEFICIENCY) OF INCOME OVER EXPENDITURE 34,338 29,513 {90.873) {91,303)
Other Comprehensive Ineome
Remeasurement of the defined benefit obligahion - - 3436 9136
Uneclaimed benefits [ 63 444 62
RESERVES, heginning of year 111,225 &1,349 1,221,544 1,303 649
RESERVES, end of year 145,626 111,225 1,134,151 1,221,544

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Industrial Mudienl Disablement and Death Fidelity Bond Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 21 2022 2021 2022 2021

b ] 5 § % 5 5 b3 % % 5
21,787 13,327 1,454 1,288 - - - - 290,504 257,687
613 299 252 45 2] 43 - - 6, (07 4,154

- - 2117 2,112 - - - - 3,208 3,270

- - - - 3,820 2.960 - - 3.820 2.960

639 1085 632 1,086 - - - - 2,553 4341
23.039 20,711 4,462 4.531 3841 3,003 - - 366,184 342412
- - - - - - - - 11,183 11,095

= s 5 - . - - - T.602 4,017

- - - - - - - = 6,433 6,022

: = £ = - : - 4,364 3,304

- B . - - - - 1415 1,318

= k= = = - - - - 240376 231,064

. g - . . - - - 24,799 24,015

4 - - - - - - 13,826 13,661

o = = = . - - - 8,683 8,337

- - . - - . 4,556 4,720

- - - - B - - - S0l bl
T.048 5,809 - - - - - - 7648 5,200
4394 2872 - - - - - - 4 304 2872
- - - - BAll B.063 - - 8411 8,063

- - - - 174 208 - - 174 208
12.042 8,771 - - 8,585 £271 - - 353,530 327473
3.820 2,860 - - - - - = 3,820 2,960
3,731 3.360 3,659 3312 5 2 = = 60,225 37,766

) ) _ _ y ~ . 5679 14,632
15,503 15001 3,699 3,812 B,585 8271 - - 413,254 402,831
3.446 5,620 763 719 {4,744) (5,268) 5 z (57,070) (60,419)

- - - - - - - - 3456 9.135

33 13 - = = - = - 140 138

4. 742 59109 89780 BG.067 5.256 10,524 576 576 1,493,129 1,544,274
68,221 64,742 1,549 89,786 f12 5,256 576 576 1,439,638 1,493,129
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The National Insurance Fund

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Deficiency of mcome over expendiiure

Adjustments:
Income from investments
Income from property
{Gain)/loss on disposal/write-off of property and equipment
Amortisation
Depreciation
Pravisions for expected credit losses
Fmance cost on leases
Deficit hefore working capital changes

Drecrease/{increase) in receivables and advances
{Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses and deposits
{Decrease)/increase in accounts payable and acerued expenses
{Decrease)/increase in statf pension fund

{Decrease)/increase 1n accrued benelils payable

Net cash used inm operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest recerved — trustee and other securities
Invidends recerved

Proceeds from finance leases

Proceeds from income received from property
Proceeds from sale of equity securities

Proceeds on mamirity of certificates of deposit
Proceeds [rom sale of Bahamas Government notes
Proceeds on mamurnty of Bahamas Government registered stocks
Proceeds fraom Government of Barbados bonds
Proceeds [rom Bahamas Government Treasury balls
Proceeds from redemption of preference shares
Proceeds from Bahamas Government 1IS$ notes
Proceeds [rom Bahamas Government USS loan

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2022 2021
$ $
(57,070) (60.419)
(66,007) (74,154)
(3,298) (3.270)
(32) 70
1,417 1273
5,152 5.350
9,468 16,723
53 52
(110317) (114,375)
94,380 (5.834)
(22) (229)
(125) 1.636
(3,585) (2.156)
(L127) (1.544)
(20,796) (122,502)
38,108 41,071
2,053 1.862
12,173 15,130
3,520 3,465
) 74
6,500 50,500
2824 6,715
50,380 55,538
: 1
115,929 13.284
8,500 4,000
5,156 -
1,403 =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,



The National I nsurance Fund

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

(Continued)

2022 2021

$ $

CASH FLOWSFROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (Continued)
Proceeds from loan repayments from Bahamas Government entities 2,739 5,59¢
Proceeds from Nassau Airport Development Company Limitedsshtrities 1,82t 2,00(¢
Proceeds from College of the Bahamas notes 184 18t
Proceeds from Public Hospital Authority bonds 665 66E
Proceeds from Bahamas Power & Light bonds - 6,47¢
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 84
Proceeds from US Corporate bonds 2,541 1,614
Proceed$rom Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited 800 -
Proceed$rom Latin American Investments bonds 2,28 -
Proceeds from Be Aliv 10C -
Purchase of Bahamas Government notes (1,407) (6,004)
Purchase of Bahamas Government Registered stocks (35,000 (3,000
Purchases of Bahamas Government US$ notes (33,78) -
Placements of certificates of deposit - (8,200
Additional loans to Bahamas Government entities - (3,679)
Purchase of Bahamas Government Treasury bills (115,957 (13,309
Purchase of Preference shares (8,500 -
Additions to computer software (297) (411)
Additions of property and equipment (473) (1,319
Additions to construction iprogress-finance leases (1,833) (2,857)
Net cash from investing activities 60,441 169,503
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance costbon lease liabilities (53) (52)
Principal payments on lease liabilities (245) (269)
Net cash used in financing activities (298) (321)
Net increasein cash and cash equivalents 39,347 46,680
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 91,391 44,711
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (Note 4) 130,738 91,391

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes ta the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

L.

General Information

The National Insurance Fund (the Fund) was established under the National Insurance Act (the Act). The major
objective of the Fund 1s to provide pecuniary payments in respect of:

a)  sickness, invalidity, maternity, unemployment, retirement, death, industrial injury and disablement and
death from industrial injury;

(b)  medical care;
(c)  social assistance for insured and other persons not qualifying for such payments as of right;
(d)  purposes connected with and incidental to the above matters,

Income is derived from contributions and return on investments. The daily operations of the Fund are governed
by the Act and regulations pertaining thereto and are administered by the National Insurance Board (NIB),
which 1s the organisation charged with administering the social security programme of the country. The
Act/Regulations states that employersiself-employed persons have stamtory obligation to collect and pay
contributions in relation to 1ts employees to NIB. The Fund has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Claunghton House
Limted, which is consohdated in these financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a)  Basis of preparation

The consohdated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), and with the requiremenis of the Act and the Natiomal Insurance (Fmancial and
Accounting) Regulations (the Regulations), Further, the consolidated financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed n the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management (o
exercise judgment in the process of applyving the Fund's accounting policies. It also requires
management to make estimates and assnmptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of income and expenditure during the reporting period. Acmal results could
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity. or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed m
Notes 2(e), 2(D, 2(g), 2¢k), 2(1), 2{m), 2(n), 3, and 23.

The consolidated financial siatemenis do not take account of liabilities 10 pay benefis in the Mulure. An
actuarial valuation is usually performed cvery five years, with the latest valuation presented to
Parhament having been done as of December 31, 2018. Certain results of the actuarial valuation are
described in Note 31.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022



The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stutements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Contimwed)

i Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
{a)  Basls of preparation (continued)

] .
'.'I |"l|iv|. st ndards, Amandmaents fo asoounting Stangards and nterpratations adaptad By cha lr_r.'ﬂl.‘

The Fund has adopted the following amendment for the first tune for their annual reporting period
commencing | January 2022:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 —amendments 1o [FRS 9

The amendment listed above did not have any impact on the amoumnts recognised m pror periods
and is not cxpected to significantly affect the current or future periods. Other amendments and
interpretations to published standards that became etfective tor the Fund s fiscal year bemnning on
January 1, 2022 were eather nol relevant or not sigmiieant to the Fund's operations and accordingly
did not impacet the Funds accounting policies or [inaneial stalements

|I'IJ] Nnua SO AT ra S, AN E ST B0 ACcru nring staadacds and (Dlerararatinns fssu e B e var

arraetive and BOC eariy adopiad by Lha F;I.IJCI

Certain new accounting standards, amendments 1o accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for December 31, 2022 reporting periods and have not heen
early adopted by the Fund. These standards, amendments or interprelations are nol expecied (o have
a matenal mpact on the Fund m the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
lransactions,

(b) Consolidation
lglfrl siclrary

A Subsidiary is an entity over which the Tund has control. Control is achicved when the investor has
power over the myestee; 15 exposed or has righls o vanahle refums from its mvolvement with the
mvestee; and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns, 17 facts and ciroumstances indicate (hat
there are changes to one or more of the thres elements of control listed above, the investor shall reassess
whether it controls the investee. The subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Fund, Tt is decomsolidated from the date that coentrol ceases.

Intercommpany iransactions, balances, income and expenses and vorealised gams on transactions between
the Fund and its subsidiary are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the wransaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset ransferred. Accounting policies of the subsidiary are
changed where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Fund.

J"]!::- ot a T s

Associates are all entibes over which the Fund bhas sigmificant influence bul not control, pencrally
accompanying a sharcholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Tnvestments in asseciales
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognized at cost. The
myestment m associates ineludes goodwill identihed on acquisition, net of any accumulated mpairment
lowsses.

The Fund's share of its associates” post-acquisttion profils or losses is recogmsed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognized in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment, When the Fund’s share of losses in an associate equals or cxeceds
its micrest m the agsociate, meluding any other unseeured receivables, the Fund docs not recognise
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The National Insurance Fund
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2,

Sipnificant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(©)

Consolidation (continued)
A-' C=T=t ¥ N L] |IrlT o r:'r.'ur-d_}

further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate,

Unrealised gains on iransactions between the Fund and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Fund’s interest i the associates. Unrealised losses are alse eliminated, unless the ransaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the assat transferred.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidaled fnancial statements are presented in Bahamian dollars, which 1s the lunctional and
presentation currency of the Fund  Foreign currency transactions are franslated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and lesses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities al exchange rates prevailing as al the reporting dale are recognised in the consolidaled
statement of comprehensive loss,

Cash and cash equivalents

For the puposes of the consolidated statement of cash Mows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
contractual maturities of three months or less and, if applicable, bank overdrafis.

*
Finaneial assets
Cfa ssiflcagon snd Measuromant

[FRS 9 eontains three principal classification categories for financial assets: (i) amortised cost, (1i) fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTFL™), or (iii) [air value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI™).

Amortused Cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the
financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order io
collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the contractual terms of the financial assel give nse on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest,
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7.9 Significant Accounting Pelicies (Continued)
(e) Financial assets (continued)
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Fair Value Through Other Comprechensive Income

A Mnancial asset is measured al fanr value through other comprehensive income if both ol the following
conditions are met: (a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and (b) the contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest.

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it does not mect the criteria to be
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on the Fund’s business model
for managing the asset, and the cash flow charactenstics of the assel. Factors considered by the Fund in
determining the business model for a group of financial assets nclude: past experience regarding the
manner in which the cash flows for the financial assets were collected; the manner in which the
performance of financial assets is evaluated and reported to key management personnel; the approach to
assessing and managing risks associaled with the financial assels.

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPT). and that are not designated at fair value through profit
or loss, are mensured at amortsed cost, adjusted by an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL), which
15 recogmised and measured as disclosed in Note 2(f).

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date — the date on which the Fund
commils 1o originate, purchase or sell the assel.

()  Impairment of financial assets

The Fund assesses, on a forward looking basis, the expected credit Tosses (ECL) for financial assets at
amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The Fund measures the ECL and
recognises an allowance for ECL at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: (1) an
unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes,
(i1} ime value of money and (111} all reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and
[orecasts of future conditions,

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are presented in the consolidated statement of finanecial
position, along with the allowance for ECL. For debt instruments at FVOCL, changes in amortised cosl,
net of allowance for ECL, are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in carrying value are
recognised in OCI as pains less losses on debt instruments at FVOCL
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1.

Significant Aecounting Policies (Continued)

(f)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Fund applies a three stage model for impairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition. A financial asset that is not eredit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stape 1.
Financial assets i Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of hifetime ECL
that results from default events possible within the next twelve months or until contracal maturity, if
shorter (12-month ECL). If the Fund identifies a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial
recognition, the financial asset 18 wansferred to Stage 2 and 1ts ECL 1s measured based on ECL on a
lifetime basis (lifetime ECL), that 1s, up until contractnal maturity but considering expected prepayments.
If the Fund determines that a financial assel is credit-impaired, the financial asset is ransferred to Stage
3 and its ECL 1s measured on a lifetime basis. The Fund’s definition of credit-impaired financial asscts
and definition of default are explained in Note 3. For financial assets that are purchased or originated
credit-impaired (POCI Assets), the ECL is always measured as a lifetime ECL.

For contributions recetvable, the Fund applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Fund does not track changes in credit nisk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs al cach reporting date. The Fund has established a provision mainx that 1s based on 1is histoneal
credit loss experience, adjusted for farward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economie
environment. The carryving amount of the assel 1s reduced through the use of an allowance account.

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part when the Fund has exhausted all practical recovery
efforts and has concluded that there 18 no reasonable expectation of recovery. Recoveries of accounts
previously written off are recognised directly in the conselidated statement of comprehensive loss as a
part of the ECL expense included in deficiency of meome over expenditure.

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022



The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

2. Sigmificant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(g) Investment property

Property that 1s held for long-term rental yields, capital appreciation, or both, and is not principally
occupied by the Fund, is classified as investment property. Investment property comprises freehold land
and ofTice buildings.

[nvestment praperty is measured imtially at cost, including related transaction costs. Subsequently,
investment property 15 camed al fair value. Fair value is based on valuation methods such as discounted
cash fow projections and prices observed in recent transactions invelving similar properties, Formal
valuations are obtained at least every three years, from independent appraisers who hold recognised and
relevant professional gualifications and have recent experience in the category of investment property
being valued. The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from
current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current market
conditions. The fur value also reflects. on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected n
respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
cconomic benelits associated with the wem will flow o the Fund and the cost of the 1tem can be measured
reliably. All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. When part ol an investment property is
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or
enhance the property and does not reflect the related future bepefits from this future expenditure other
than those a rational market participant would take into account when determining the fair value of the
property.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. Tnvestment
property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no funire economic benefit iz expected from its disposal.

[T an mvestment property becomes occupied by the Fund, 1t 15 reclassified as property and equipment.
Tts fair value as at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

{h}) Property and equipment

Land and buildings princtpally comprise builldmgs that are oceupied by the Fund or medical climes
wilhin the Medical Benefits Branch which are operated by the Government of the Commonwealth of
The Bahamas (The Bahamas Government), Property and equipment are siated at historical cosl less
depreciation, except land which is not depreciated. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
altnibutable to the acqusiion of the ilems,

Subscquent costs are meluded i the carrying amount or recogmsed as a separdle asscl, as appropalc,
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Fund and the

cost of the 1tem can be measured relinbly.

Repairs and maintenance and costs ol leasehold improvements are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss durning the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h)

(L)

G

Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line basis to allocate costs (net of residual values) over
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Building renovations 20 years
Office lumiture and equipment 5 =10 years
Comyputer hardware 3 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Medical equipment and Vehicles 10 years

Assels’ residual values and uselul lives are reviewed, and adjusted il appropriate. al each statement of
financial position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverahle
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrving amounts and are
recogmsed m the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Computer software

Computer sofiware comprises soflware packages and other costs associaled with implementing the
software and ensuring that it 15 fully operational. The asset is stated at historical cost less amortisation,
calenlated using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of three years. The insurance
admunisiration system 1s amortised over [ifieen years. The esimated useful hife and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting peniod. with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospechive basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
usc or disposal. Gams or losses anising from derecogmtion of an intangible asset are measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Leases
IThP il':il’n'l."i' I8 lesses

The Fund leases various properties for office and storage spaces. Agreements are typically made for
fixed periods, (usually three years) and may have renewal options exercisable by the Fund. Lease terms
are negotialed on an individual basis and contain a range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants with the exception of subleasing and alterations of the premises
without the lessor’s permission.
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L Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(jy  Leases (continued)

|'r|'|t.‘ Furlu 18 leshoo {currc;rruuu_,)

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset und a comresponding hability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Fund. Assets and liahilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis.

||r..n:m =& I{.l’/}DHl’I?

Liabilities include the net present value of fixed payments. Lease payments 10 he made under reasonably
certain extension oplions are also meluded in the measurement of the liability,

The lease payvmenis are discounted using the Fund's incremental borrowing male al the lease
commencement date as the interest rate implieit in the lease is not readily determinable. The ineremental
borrowing rate is the rate that the individual lessee would have 1o pay to borrow the funds necessary 1o
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of~use gsset in a similar economic environment with sumilar
terms and conditions.

To determine the ineremental borrowing rate, the Fund uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free discount rate in the economic environment where the lease is located, adjusted for credit risk of the
leases held by the Fund which does not have recent third-party finaneing.

Lease payments are allocaled between principal and interest expense. Inlerest expense 15 charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

ng?;-r e US:"' ."qﬂ'?r‘l'

Right-ol-use nssels are mitally measured at cost comprising the followmng:
¢ The amouni of initial measurement of the lease lability
e Any lease payments made al or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received
& Any initial direct costs, and
¢ Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term

on a straight-line basis, Subsequenily, right-ol-use assels are recognised at cost less any aceumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurements of the lease liabilities.
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(Continued)

z.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

1)

(k)

Leases (continued)
F‘f:rﬂ |'ru.-1s:' s lessas

Shori-term leascs

The Fund applies the short-term lease recognition exemption (o its shori-term leases (those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less). Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a
strmight-line basis as an expense m the consolidated statemenl of comprehensive loss,

l'lf:lf.-' |'|I'un-'.l' is fessor

Finance leases

For assets leased oul under finance leases, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as net
investment in finance leases in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between
the total gross lease payments and the present value of the lease payments is recognised as unearned
Mnance meome. Lease mcome 15 recogmsed over the term of the leases usig the effective interest
method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of refurn.

Cosis in relation to consiniction of asseis miended to be leased out under finance leases are recognised
as construction in progress — finance leases in the consolidated statement of financial position. Costs
mclude the expenditures that are directly attributable to the construction of the assets. In addition. the
Fund recogmses interest mecome, using the effective mlerest method, on the outstanding balance dunng
the construction phase and includes this in the carrving amount. Upon completion of an asset, the
amounts are transferred to net investment in finance leases.

Operating leases

Assets leased out under operating leases are incluided in investment property or property and equipment
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Rental income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over the peniod of the lease,

Impairment of non-financial assets

"Non-financial™ assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may noi be recoverable, An impainment loss 15 recognized for the amount by
whach the assel’s carrying amounl exceeds 1ls recoverable amount. The recoverable amount s the lugher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

MNon-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporling period.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(' Employee benefits

The Fund provides a contributory defined benefit pension plan (the pension plan) for all of its long term
contractual, full time employees. A deflined benefil pension plan is a pension plan that delines an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually as a function of one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The liability or asset recognised in the
consolidated statement of fnancial position 1s the present value of the defined benefit obligation af the
end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is caleulated
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assels. This cost 1s included in staff salaries, allowances and benefits
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustmenis and changes in actuarial
assumplions are recognised in the period in which they occur. directly in other comprehensive mcome.
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit abligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, as past
service costs,

(m) Income recognition

Contributions are accounted [or on an acerual basis. Contribution income is recognised in the period for
which the contmibution relates. It i1s esiimated based on the expecied oulstanding contributions for
participants to the Fund considering the amount of contributions which are due but not yet paid by
emplovers or individuals registered with the Fund, based on the Fund's historical contribution
statements.

Interest income for all instruments measured at amortised cost is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of
caleulating the amortised cost of a linancial asset and allocating the mieres! mcome over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit
Insses.

The caleulation includes all fees and commissions paid or received berween parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Dividend income is recognised when the Fund’s right to receive payment has been established,
Rental income is recognised as disclosed m Note 2(j).

Other meome amounts are recognised using the accrual basis of accounting.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(n)

(0)

(P

Expense recognition

The Fund recognises benefit expenditure when the Fund’s obligation to make pavment has been
established. The Fund has s statutory obligation to pay benefits when claims are submitted and the
eligmbility critena n the Act/Regulations has been mel. The Fund recognises an estimate of expenditure
for claims submitted but not processed The estimate is accrued considering the following assnmptions
based on historical experience: cxpected clamms approval rales, the estimated claim period and an
estimate of the claim entitlement.

Other expenses are recognised using the accrual basis of accounting,

Unclaimed benefits

In accordance with section 15 of the Natuonal Insurance (Benefit and Assisiance) Regulations. unclaimed
benefits are legally extinguished after a period of eighteen months. Management has implemented a
policy of reversing benefit liabilities, and crediting them directly to reserves, after a period of two years
1o provide for an extended period that may be granted 1o recipients of benefits based on the underlying

circumsiances.

Apportionment of income, and administrative and other expenditure to reserves
Sections 18 and 19 of the Regulaiions provide the following:

i. Income from contributions shall be distributed among the benefit branches in the following

proporiions:
2022 2021
Shori-term benefits reserve 25.0% 25.0%
Pensions reserve 67.0% 67.0%
Indusinal benefits reserve 7.5% 7.5%
Medical benefits reserve .5% 0.5%
100.0% 100.0%

1. Income from mvestments shall be allocated to the benefits branch to which the investments relate.

iii. All other income, which cannot be identified with any specific branch, shall be distributed among
the four benefit branches in equal parts.

iv. Administrative expenditure of the medical benefits branch shall be ascribed to that branch and all
other admimistrative expenditure shall be distributed among the other three branches so that the
proportion allocated to a particular branch shall be equal to the proportion which the sum of the
coninbution ncome and benefit expenditure shown in the income and expenditure account of that
branch bears to the sum of the contribution income and benefits expenditure of the Fund as a
whole.
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2. Sigmificant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(p) Apportionment of income, and administrative and other expenditure to reserves (continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the resulting proporiicn of adminisirative
expenditure aseribed to the three benefit branches is as follows:

2022 2021
Short-term benefits reserve 16.17% 15.80%%
Pensions reserve 71.23% T7.97%
Industrial benefits reserve 6.60% 6.2304
100.0% 100.00%

v. All other expenditure, which is not atiributable to any specific branch, shall be distributed among
the four benefit branches in equal parts.

vi. Each Branch has a reserve lo/from which mcome/expenditures are allocated in hne with each
branch stated above.

(p)  Related parties

Related parties include its subsidiary; associates; ministrics and corporations of The Bahamas
Government. agencies and entities controlled by The Bahamas Government or in which The Bahamas
Government has a significant ownership interest; key management personnel; close farmly members of
key management personnel; and entities owned or controlled by key management personnel. Key
mannagement personnel include those having the authonty and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Fund,

Balances and transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 28 to these consolidated financial
statements.

(q) Taxation

The Fund 15 established under the laws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas and 1s not subject 1o
income and capital gains taxes. The Fund is subject to Value Added Tax at a rate of 10% (2021,12%)
imposed by the Bahamas Government. The Fund’s operations do not subject it to taxation in any other
Junsdiction, except for withholding taxes imposed by cerlain countries on investment income and capital
gains for investments domiciled in those countries.

(r)  Chronic Diseases Preseription Drug Fund

The Financial and Accounting Regulations provide for funding under the Medical Benefits Branch
(MBB) of expenditure of the Prescription Drug Fund established under the National Insurance (Chronic
Diseases Prescription Drug Fund) Act. With effect from January 1. 2015, because of the insufficiency
of the MBB. The Bahamas Government has agreed to reimburse the Fund for all expenditure relative 1o
the Chronic Diseases Prescription Drug Fund. Accordingly, a receivable was recorded and 15 included
in Note 5.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(s)  Evenis After the Reporting Period
The Fund identifies subsequent events as cvents that occurred after the reporting peniod but before the
date when the financial statements were authorised for issue.  Any subsequent events that provide
addiional mformation about the Fund's position at the reporting penod. adjusting events, are reflected
in the financial statements, while subsequent events that do not require adjustments, non-adjusting
evenls, are disclosed i the notes to financial statements when material.

(t)y  Corresponding Figures

Certam corresponding figures for related party balances and transactions have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.
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3.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Fund makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilites. Estimates
and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and oiher faciors, including
expeciations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Fund performed
a detailed analyses of its business models for managing financial assets and financial liabilities. and analyses
ol the respective cash flow charscteristics. The analyses performed resulted in debt invesiment securities being
classified as financial assets at amortised cost, as the cash flow characteristics meet the requirements for SPPIL
and the Fund’s business model is to hold debt investments without an intention Lo sell.

The Fund invests i debt investments principally for the exclusive purpose of providing long-term security and
growth of the Fund with minimal risk through financial assets that yield investment income, while securing
liquidity in the event of significant events requiring cash and cash equivalents. The maturity profile of
mvesiment secunities 15 managed to provide cash Mows over shori, medium and long term for the purposes of
managing liquidity and accordingly, sales are expected to be infrequent.

The remaming linancial assets (cash al banks, loans advances and receivables included in other assets), are
classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

l{ﬂpiif“i. assumptions aad estimation technrquies Ffoctored rato Measering |"'_C-‘|!f

As a primary approach for the calculation of expected credit losses (ECL) of cash and cash equivalents, debt
investment securities and promissory notes, management estimates parameters for the Probability ol Defauli
(PD)), Loss Given Default (LGDY) and the exposure at the tune of delault (EAD) for each individual [nancial
asset,

At any point in time where a cash flow is expected there are two outcomes possible —either the issuer is solvent
and the cash flow comes in the contractual amount, or the 13suer 18 in default and the cash flow does not arrive
and is collected later on, with some possible losses (e.g. the cash flow may arrive later than scheduled, in a
lesser amount than is due or not at all). The probability of the first ontcome is usually referred 10 as the
probability of no default (or survival), while the probability of default (PD)) for the 1ssuer 1s the probahility of
the second outcome. These two probabilities add up to one, constituting all the possible outcomes (this includes
transition from one non-defaull state into another for the issuer).

The P2 represents the likelihood of a horrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either over the next twelve
{12) months (12-month PDY) or over the remaimng lifetime (lifetime P of the obligation.

The Fund utilises the rating transition matrices from an external rating agency (Moody’s report) for calculation
ol the lifetime probability of defauli. The model assumes the exiernal rating (or reliable iniernal rating) is
available for issuers in scope together with sufficient history of observed rating transitions (covering at least
one credit cycle). The same model can be used in particular to estimate lifetime PD for rated sovereign and
corporate linancial mstruments, For vorated issuers, the Fund benchmarks the issuers probability of delault 1o
corporaile ralings with similar default expeniences derived from exilernal rating agency transiiion mairices.
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3

Critical Aceounting Estimates and Judgements in Applving Accounting Policies (Continued)
J"“pu[,, assumpnions and ssifmation echiniguses faciorgd Intg megsuring E{’.ﬂi (L-L’“(-'J-‘I..IHLF..J

The Fund defines a financial asset as in default, which 1s consistent with the regulatory definition of credit-
impaired, when one (1) or more of the following eriteria are met:
e An obligor is highly vulnerable to non-payment, e.g. a bankruptey petition has been filed.
e An obligor has selectively defaulted on a specific 1ssue or class of obligations but it will continue 1o
meet payment obligations on other 1ssues or classes of obligation 10 a umely manner,
® Anobligor has failed to pay one or more of its financial obligations (rated or unrated) and the exposure
is more or equal o 90 days past due.
& Tinancial asset has a “Defanlied” external rating.

The default definition has been apphed consistently to model the PD, Exposure at Default (EAD) and LGD 0
all expected loss calculations.

Based on management’s decision, assets will not move directly from Stage 3 to Stage 1. When an asset ceases
to be defaulted it will mowve 1o Stage 2 and then subsequently if 1t no longer is classed as “deteriorated” it will
move to Stage 1. In general 1t 1s expected that financial assets will always move to Stage 2 prior to moving to
Stage 3, but in some mstances an asset may move directly from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (an example would be a
counterparty declaring financial hardship where there had been no evidence of financial difficulties in rating
behaviors).

The exposure in the context of calculating the ECL is determined based on the expected cash flows on the
financial instrument from the measurement date {1.e. the balance sheet date) to the last cash flow date {1.¢. end
of lifetime — estimated and/or contractual). Cash flows are estimated over the lifetime of a financial instrument,
the Fund estimates whal it expects the balance ol a financial instrument to be in the future (based on the
amortization sehedule), Any modeling of future cash flows 15 dene al an approprately granular level and
considers the unique aspects of each financial asset.

LGD is the estimate of the loss arising on default. [t is based on the difference between the contracrual cash
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including discounted cash flows from any
collateral. LGD 1s expressed as a percentage of EAD. LGD should be estimated over futre perieds to include
the term of exposures and incoerporate expectations about the future. As explained m [FRS 9.B5.5.43, even
when calculating 12 month ECLs, LG 1s assessed over a life of the exposure rather than a 12 month LGD.
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¥

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued)
l'lfu'_I'J Uis, assumelions and aslimab/on ochniguas faclor ad (ra massued ng ECL {‘IJ"_‘UJ'TFIJ'JL.'LI‘L‘"}
Management utilises external data provider reports provided by Moody’s for default and recovery rates.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for future periods and for each individual
exposure. These three (3) components are multiplied together and adjusted lor the hkelthood of survival, which
is that the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier period. This effectively calculates an ECL for each
Tuture period, which is then discounted back to the financial reporting date and summed. The discount rate used
in the ECL calculation 15 the approxiumation of the origmal effective interest rate.

The 12-month and hieume EADs are delermined based on the expected payment prolile. which varies by
financial assets.

.5I'4I'.|'1.l."|’ﬂ'.9ﬂ|: erssse I cradit FISk r".S-"'lr:ﬁ)

The determination of SICR 15 not defined in the standard. Therefore, qualitative and quantitative mdicators are
factored into the determination of SICR. considering all reasonable and supportable information available
without undue cost and effort, on past events, current conditions and future behavioural aspects of particular
portfolios of financial assets. The Fund makes best efforts 1o identify indicators of STCR of individual financial
assels prior to delinquency and accordingly incorporates significant assumptions in its model.

The Fund continuously monitors all financial assets suhject to ECLs, and assesses whether there has been a
SICR smce imtial recognition, which 1s performed on an mdividual basis and on a portfolio basis. Cash at
banks, loans and receivables and mvestment securities classified at amortised cost are assessed for SICR on an
individual basis by monitoring the triggers stated below. For other financial assets, SICR is also assessed on an
individual basis.

Some of the Fund’s financial assets are investment grade corporate and sovereign securities with limited or no
history of defanlt. Management has applied the “low eredit nisk expedient™ identified and defined in TFRS 9
which is considered a simplified approach to assessing whether or not there is a SICR from the date of initial
recognition. In order for this operational simphification to apply. the financial asset has 1o meet the following
require ments:

® It has a low risk of default.

®  The borrower 18 considered, 1n the short term. (o have strong capacity to meet its obligations.

¢ The lender expecis, in the longer term, the adverse changes in economic and business conditions
might, but will not necessanly; reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its obligations.

As the Fund considers the credit nisk of these financial assets low and po SICR has ansen, impairment 1s
mensured using 12-month ECL and 15 classified as Stage 1.
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R R

Critieal Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applyving Accounting Policies (Continued)
_{.ll.lg.r:m' rcaft Jncresss o credit risk r.SJr-H,JI (ft' rwrrrnur.-n',ﬂl

Significant merease 1 credit nisk of all other fnancal assets of the Fund 13 assessed individually at the
counterparty level by applying the following methodology:
& [l a linancial asset drops out of investment grade, it automatically mugrates to Stage 2 as such deop
indicates significant increase in credit risk from the origination.
@ For the assets purchased/originated outside of investment grade, a movement of 2 notches in
reference to an externally published eredit rating is considered as a significant increase in credit risk.
e Inadditon, financial assets move to Stage 2 in the case of significant adverse changes in business,
lpancial and/or econemic conditions in which the counterparty operales,
e Contractual payments from the borrower are past due in excess of thirty (30) days.

The eriteria nsed o identify SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriatencss. The exposure
will move back to Stage 1 once it no longer meet the criteria for a SICR.

FG{'W&.""d"JGGHJn’Q infarmation factared 'Ate LL_U'..-L mradals

Forward looking mlfvrmation 1s factored mio both the assessment of SICR (sigmificant merease i credit risk)
and the calculations of ECL. Historical analyses have been performed, which identified the key economic
variables impacting eredit risk and ECL for each type of financial asset. These economic varables and their
associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial mstrument. Forecasts of these economic vanables
(the base economic scenario) are determined periodically based on benchmark information available in The
Bahamas and the countries which the Fund places its investments, this information provides the best estimate
view of the economy over the medium term. To project the economic variables out for the tull remaining
lifetime of each mstrument, a mean reversion approach has been used, which means that economic vanables
trend towards a long run average growth rate (Le. GDP)} over a period of two to five years. The impact of the
economic variables on the PD, FAD and 1.GD has heen determined by performing statistical regression analysis
to understand the impact changes in these variables have had historically on default rates and on the components
of LGD.

In addition to the base economuc scenano, other possible scenanos along with scenano weighftings are
determined. The number of other scenarios used is set based on the analyses of each major type of financial
asset to ensure non-hnear relationships are appropriately factored in. The oumber of scenarios and their
attribuies are reassessed al each financial reporting date. As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2022,
three scenarios were deemed to appropnately capture non-linear relationships. The scenario weightings are
determined by a combination of statistical analysis and experl credit judgement, laking account of the range of
possible outcomes cach chosen scenario is representative of.

The Fund used supportable forward-looking information for measurement of ECL. primarily an outcome of its
own macre-economic forecasting model with three (3) macro-economic scenarios to calculate unbiased and
probability weighted ECL: most likely outcome {Baseline); and two (2) less likely scenarios being better than
Baseline (Upside) and worse than Baseline (Downside).
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3.

4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued)

-
FD"WEI'I'!T'.'QDKTFJQ IAfrormatiagn r@clorsd (Ao LL_f.-I{ mogafs (CDFJUI"'UB-:\'_,}

Sensitivity analysis
The most significant assumption impacting the ECL 15 as follows:

o GDP: The gross domestic product growth rates as these have an impact on the counterparty’s
financial condition and their probability of default.

The table below sets out the changes to the ECL at December 31, 2022 that would result from reasonably
possible changes in the parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Fund's economic variable
assumption:

Gross Domestic Produet
-25bps  No change 25 hps

$ . 3
Change in ECL 2022 65 - {64)
Change in ECL 2021 194 - (184)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2022 2021
b 5
Cash on hand a5 %]
Cash at banks — current account 37,199 21.885
Cash at brokers 6,268 4,475
Cash at the Central Bank ol The Bahamas 87251 (5,003
130,783 91,428

Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 23) (45) (37)
130,738 91,391

Cash at the Ceniral Bank of The Bahamas does nol earn mieresl, The remaining cash and cash equivalents did

not eamn interest during 2022 and 2021.
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4,

Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)
The Fund is permitted, under foreign exchange controls of the Central Bank of The Bahamas, to invest a
maximum of 525 million annually ($6.25 million quarterly) in specific foreign cwrrency investments. This

annual facility commenced in 2006 and annual maximums ranged tfrom $12.5 million to $25 nullion. As at
December 31, 2022, Uniled States dollar (US$) deposits total $20,559 (2021, $12,050),

Receivables and Advances

Receivables and advances compnise:

2022 2021
h] ¥
Finance lease receivables 15,280 15.028
Rent receivable 4,336 4,558
Value Added Tax receivable/payable (net) (4,234) (1.076)
Other receivable — The Bahamas Govermment 27.087 117773
Contnbution Recervables (Note 23) 72,715 73,504
Advances to staff 612 553
115,796 210,147
Provision for expected credit losses (31.766) (28.011)
84,030 182,136
Movements in provision for expected credit losses are as follows:
2022 2021
b $
Al January 1 (28.011) (25.883)
Increase in loss allowance (3,755) (2.128)
Al December 31 (31,766) (28.011)

The other receivables include $19,141 (2021: 538,118} which relates to the Chronic Diseases Prescription Diug
Fund (Drug Fund) and is in part supported by a Promissory Note issued by The Bahamas Government dated
Jamuary 5, 2021 in the amount 838 500, The three-year Promissory Note bears interest at the rate of 3.75% per
annum. The balance of this Prommssory Note 15 $5.751.

A promissory note in the amount of' 861,762 dated December 1, 2018 was issued by The Bahamas Governnient
to cover all outstanding lease balanees atl June 30, 2018. The promissory note shall be repaid within four years
of issue date and bears mterest at a rate of Prime + V4% per anmum (currently 4.5%0) See Note 23. At December
31,2021, the balance of this Promissory Note was $34.086 and was [ully repaid in 2022.

A promissory nole i the amount of $15,000 dated Apnl 19, 2021 was issued by the Bahamas Government (o
cover the Education Loan Authority Series A Bond that defaulied at maturity on August 15, 2020. The
promissory note shall be repaid in five (5) instalments of $3 000 no later than September 16, 2023 and bears
interest at 4 fixed rate of 5.00% per smnum. The balance of this Promissory Note is $7.529 (2021:815,000).

The expected credit loss provision amount of § 31,766 (2021: 5 28.011) includes § 31,744 (2021: § 27.956)
and £ 21 (2021: § 54) loss allowances related to contribution receivables and other recervables and advances
respectively (Note 23).
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6.

Investments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The Fund ranks its investments based on the hierarchy of valuaton technigues required by IFRS, which 1s
determined based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are ohservable or unohservable
Observable mmputs reflect market! data obtmined rom independent sources, unobservable mputs reflect the
Fund's market assumptions. These two types of inputs lead (o the following [air value hierarchy:

Lever { — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or habiliies. This level mcludes
equity securitics and debt mstruments listed on exchanges.

Lever 2 — Inpuls other than quoted prices included within Level | that are observable for the asset or hability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (thal is, derived [rom prices),

Lavar 3= Inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable mnpuits).
This level includes equity securities and debt instruments with significant unobservable components,

The level m the far value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categonised in 1ls entirely 1s
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant 1o the faar value measurement in its enfircty.
For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against observable inputs that require significant
adjusiment based on unobservable mputs, that measurement 18 a Level 3 measurement. Assessmg the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering
[actors specilic to the asset or Hability.
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{Continued)

6. Investments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (Continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss held by the Fund comprise:

MNumber of shares

2022

1.000
6,022,945
3,343,749
2,967,500

474,797
23,320
213472
298,491
1125459
68,327

24,428
5,603

100,000
4,365,000

2021

1.000
6,022.945
3,345,749
2,967,500

474,797
23,320
213472
298,491
1,125,459
68,327

24 428
5,603

100,000
4,365,000

D.' dinary _g.f.l.'s s !’Mueu.s.' Fun o5

Level 2 BS

Bahamas Waste Limited

Bank of Bahamas Limited
Commonwealith Bank Lid
Commonwealth Brewery Limited
Consolidated Water Co. Lid,

FamCiuard Corporation Limited

Finance Corporation of Bahamas Limited
FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited
Freeport O1l Holdings Company Ltd.

LS. Johnson & Company Limited

Level 2 US§
CFAL Global Bond Fund
CFAL Global

Prarorcncﬂ -}ﬁa ras

Level 2
Fidehty Bank Limuted: Prime + 2.25%
Freeport Oil Holdings Company Lid; Prime + 1,75%
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2022 2021

3 b

10 9
15,720 14.937
11,971 10,165
30,417 25.966
1.405 LO11
262 234
2,348 2,103
4,773 3,582
4479 4. 479
1,077 1,059
72462 63,545
4,779 4,970
1,004 1,190
5,788 6,160
1000 L.00g
4,363 4,365
5.363 5,365
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{Continued)

6.

Investments at Fair Valoe Through Profit or Loss (Continued)

During the year, the movements in investments at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ b $ 5
Ralance as at Japuary 1, 2022 - 75,070 - 75,070
Purchases = - - N
Sales = = = =
Net unrealised gain (Note 17) - 8.545 - 8,545
Balance as at December 31, 2022 - 83.615 = R3,615
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ % $ b}
Balance as ai January 1, 2021 - 59,542 - 59,542
Purchases = . = -
Sales - {(74) = (74)
Net unrealised gam (Note 17) - 15,602 - 15,602
Balance as at December 31, 2021 - 75070 - 75,070

The Fund did not have any hnancial mstruments classified as Level 3 as at December 31, 2022 (2021 SNal).
There were no transfers between levels during the year (2021: SNil).

Investments at Amortised Cost
Financial assets disclosed in Note 7 are at amortised cost, Refer to Note 23 for the credit quality, staging and
expected credit losses applicable.
(a) Babamas Government Registered Stocks
Investments in Bahamas Government Registered Stocks have interest rates varying from 3.15% 1o 5.60%,

(2021: 4.25% o 5.60%) per annum, most of which are tied to the Bahamian dollar Prime rate (Prime)
which al December 31, 2022 was 4.25% (2021: 4.25%).

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
b b b} b ]
- 50,380 Prime + 0.18% to 0.41%; 4.25% 2022 - 50,380
41,692 6,692 Prime +0.22% 1o 0.38%: 3.15%; 2023 41.692 6,692
183,022 183,022 Prime + 0.04% to 0.38%; 4.25% to 4.82%; 2024-2028 183,049 183,057
155980 155,989 Prime + 0.06% to 0.44%; 4.30% to 5.45%:; 2029-2033 156,033 156,037
57574 57,574 Prime+0.18% to 0.63%; 3.00% to 5.40%; 2034-2038 57.922 57,940
19818 19818 5.00% o 5.60%:; 2039-2040 19818 19 818
458.514 473924
Accrued interest 4 817 5,444

463,331 479,368
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7. Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)
(a) Bahamas Government registered stocks (continued)
The effective interest rate earned on Bahamas Government registered stocks was 4.54% (202 1: 4.66%),
and registered stocks with face values totalling $128.546 (2021; $103,576) have fixed interest rates
varying from 3.15% to 5.60% (2021: 4.25% to 5.60%) and maturities tanging from 2023 10 2040 (2021,
2022 1o 2040,

(b) Bahamas Government B$ notes

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
b b $ 5
- 2.825 4.00%:; 2022 - 2,825
1,403 - 4.75%; 2023 1,403 -
Accrued nterest 12 22
1415 2,847

(c)  Bahamas Government treasury hills

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
5 ] $ 5
- L1719 2.50%:; 2022 - 1.717
1,763 - 2.50%; 2023 1,761 -
1.761 1,717

The effective interest rate carmed on treasury bills 1s 3.26% (2021 2.13%)
{(d) Bahamas Government USS notes
Face Value Description

2022 2021 2022 2021
5 $ 5 b
29160 - 5.75%; 2024 26,560 -
5.000 - 6.00%; 2028 3,846 =
11,000 11,000 6.93%; 2029 10,992 10,992
4,800 4,800 6.63%; 2033 4. 725 4,721
14,102 14,102 7.13%:; 2038 14.162 14,164
6,285 29877
Accrued mterest 1.053 176
61.338 30,253
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2 Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)

(e) Bahamas Governmeni USS loan

Face Value Description
2022 2021
b S
USS 2 day LIBOR+ 6.50%%;
- 13,315 2021
US$ 3 month SOFR + SOFR
11,912 - ADI +6.75%; 2027

Accrued interest

As al December 31, 2022, The Bahamas debt was rated Bl (2021: Ba3) by Moody’s.

2022 2021
$ 35

- 13,315
11912 -
238 198
12,150 13,513

In July 2020, the Fund contributed $13.315 to this medium term USS loan facility which was transferred
1o the Governmenl of The Bahamas from Bahamas Power and Light Company Limited (BPL). The loan
matured on January 28, 2022 and a new loan Tranche A was negotiated to mature January 28, 2027, The
loan bears interest at the SOFR rate plus the applicable margin of 6.75%. If the SOFR rate 1s below 1%4,
1% will be used plus the applicable margin. Alse, the applicable margin will be increased by 0.25% per
annum for each and every credit level downgrade as recorded by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor.

The applicable interest rate at December 2022 was 11.09% (2021:8.25%).

(f Government of Barhados USS bonds

Face Value Description
2022 2021
5 S

2,435 2,435 6.50%; 2029

Accrued interest

2022 2021
% 5
2.415 2413
2415 2413
40 40
2,458 2,453

As at December 31, 2022, Barbados foreign currency debt was rated Caal (2021: Caal) by Moody’s.

In 2022 principal repayments made were $Nil (2021: $11) on the restructured bonds.
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2 Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)

(z) Government of Trinidad & Tobhago USS$ honds

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
5 b $ $
2,000 2,000 3.79%: 2024 2011 2,022
Accrued mierest 35 35

2,046 2,057

As at December 31, 2022, Trinidad & Tobago foreign currency debt was rated Ba2 (2021: Ba2) by
Moody’s.

(h)  Certificates of deposit

2022 2021

$ %

Certificates of deposit - 6,500
Accrued interest - 64
- 6,564

During the year, certificales of deposit earned interest at rales of 2.00% 1o 2 25% (202 1: 1.25% to 2.50%)
per annum. The effective interest earned on certificates of deposit was 1.13% (2021: 2.31%). Certificates
of deposit mature within 12 months of the statement of financial position date.

At December 31, 2021, a certificate of deposit held with Gulf Union Bank (Bahamas) Ltd., n

compulsory hiquidation, which was previously Tully provided for was derecognized and the ECL thereon
was eliminated. No payment was received during 2022.

(i) Bahamas Mortgage Corporation bonds

Series  Deseription 2022 2021
b 5

Q) 15 vear bonds; Prime; 2024 - 2027 15,000 15,000
N.O.P 20 vear bonds; Prime* less 1 00% to 2.00%; 2023-2026 64,500 64,500
R 20 year bonds; Prime + Y 2029-2032 11100 L1100

5 25 year bonds; Prime + 1/2%0, 2034-2037 4,100 4,100
94700 94,700

Accrued interest 1,194 1,194

95.894 95,804

These bonds are guaranteed by The Bahamas Government_* The terms of these bonds deem Prime to be
no less than 7.00%.
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7.

Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)

@

(k)

Nassau Airport Development Company Limited debt securities

Face Vuloe Description

222 2021 2022 2021
% b b b ]

L8 B63 17512 BY Subordinated participating debi; 7.50%; 2035 18,863 17,512
5700 6,300 B3 senior debt notes; 8.50%; 2031 5,700 6,300
5700 6,300 USS senior debt notes; B.50%:; 2031 5,700 6,300
53,009 49296 US$ Subordinated participating debt; 7.50%; 2035 53,009 49 296
IB13 4063 BS senior debt notes; Series B, 6.34%:; 2035 3,813 4,063
i.R75 4,063 1IS$ senior debt notes; Series A; 6.34%; 2035 3,875 4,063
3,937 4,125 1IS% senior debt notes; Series C; 6.44%; 2035 3,937 4,125
94 YRT 91,659

Acered interest 145 19

95,132 91,678

The Fund acquired debt secunities of Nassau Airpert Development Company Limited (NAD). The
proceeds of the debt offerings were used for the financing of phase Il and [II of the Lynden Pindling
International Aitport.

The Participating Debt Notes bear interest of 7.50% per annum paid quarterly. The Noie Purchase
Agreement Section 10.15 (a) and (b) of these Notes due 2035 states that if insufficient cash is available
in the Revenue account any interest accrued quarterly and not paid is to be capitalised, thereby increasing
the principal outstanding. The Participating Debt Motes did not meet their interest payments in December
2022 and as a result, under the terms of the agreement interest capitalized as at December 31, 2022
totalled §5,153 (2021: 84.784). Due to the significant increases i passenger arrival in 2022 and the
growth forecasted. NAD Participating Debt remains at Stage 1 for the assessment of the ECL model.

Education Loan Authority bonds

Face Value Deseription
2022 2021 2022 2021
5 5 3 b
9,750 9,750 Senes B; Pnme + 0.50%:; 2023 9,782 b3l
19.250 19,250 Series C; Prime + 0.75%; 2025 to 2028 20,044 20,1638
29,826 29,999
Accrued interest 544 543
30,370 30,542

These bonds are guaranteed by The Bahamas Government. On April 19, 2021, the Government of The
Bahamas issued a Promissory Note to repay the prineipal and interest on the unpaid matured $15.000
Series A Bond 7,472 was repaid in 2022 The bonds are classified as Stage 2 for the assessment of the
ECL model.
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7.

Investments at Amertised Cost (Conlinued)

() Bahamas Power and Light Company Limited bonds

Face Value Description

2022 2021 2022 2021
$ $ $ b}
18,558 18,558 BS Senes C; 6.50%; 2026 18.545 18,542
18,545 18,542
Accrued mnterest il 31
18,576 18,573
These bonds are guaranteed by The Bahamas Government
(m) Preference Shares
Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
5 5 b b
Colina Holdings Bahamas Limited; Primme + 1.50%
2.000 2,000  redeemable 2,000 2.000
- 8,500 Cable Bahamas Limited; 5.75%; 2024 - B.500
%.500 - (Cable Bahamas Limited; 5.50%; 2032 8,500 %
10,500 10,500
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7. Invesimenis at Amortised Cost (Continued)

(n) Clifton Heritage Authority bonds

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
$ b b 5
1.455 1435 Prime + 0.30%; 2025 1455 1.433
4,219 4,219 Prime + 0.63%; 2030 4,219 4,219
2274 2.274 Prime + 0.75%; 2035 2274 2274
7948 7.948
Acerued interest 45 45
7,993 7.993

These bonds are guaranieed by The Bahamas Government.
{(0)  Latin American Investment Bank (Bahamas) Ltd. bonds

In prior years, the Fund acquired $5,000 of the bonds that are supported by the Govermment Guaranieed
Advanced Education Loan Scheme held in trust by Deltec Bank & Trust [nterest is eamed at (.70%
above Prime. The bonds were due to mature December 31, 2015, As this bond was not pmd al ils
maturity date it was in default. Principal of 52,282 and interest of $1.22]1 were outstanding as at

December 31, 2022

During 2022 settlement payment of 83,132 was received. A loss allowance of $371 was recognized.

(p) Loans to Bahamas Government entities

Additional
1-Jan-22 Funds Repayments 31-Dee-22
5 § % §
MOEH 5,880 - - 5,880
WSsC 9208 - (1.136) 8072
BDB 37,153 (1,395) 35,758
BCB 3.545 - {(208) 3337
55,786 - (2.739) 53,047
Accrued inlerest 2318 Bo6 (647) 2,537
58,104 B66 {3,386) 55,584

Additional
1-Jun-21 Funds Repayments 31-Dec-21
5 b 5 5
MOEH 5,880 - - 5,880
WSC 10,379 - (1.171) 9,208
BDB 38,164 - {1.011) 37,153
BCB 3,284 481 (220) 3,545
57,707 481 (2.402) 55,7806
Accrued inlerest 1,229 1,444 (353) 2318
58,936 1,925 {2,757) 58,104
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7.

Invesiments al Amortised Cost (Continued)

(p)

Loans to Bahamas Government entities (continued)
MEOEH

During 2013 the Fund through a Memorandum of Understanding with the Minisiry of the Environment
and Housing (MOEH) agreed to lend up to S10,000 for the Bahamas National Housing Construction
Project. The interest rate on this loan is 2.00% plus the 91 day Treasury Bill rate at the issue date. The
funds were disbursed in quarterly instalments of 32,500 from December 2013, During Ociober 2014 the
second drawdown of 32,500 was disbursed. A final disbursement of 5300 was made in 2017. The loan
will be repmd from mortgages issued through lending mstitutions other than the Bahamas Morlgage
Corporation (BMC). No principal repayments made i 2022 (2021: $Nil) and the loan 1s in default.

WsC

During 2013 the Fund apreed to lend up to 510,000 to the Water & Sewerage Corporation (WSC) to
finance the design and construetion of a Wastewaier Treatment Plant at Gladstone Road o serviee (he
Baha Mar Resort and surrounding areas. [n 2015 an additional $5,000 loan was approved. This loan
bears interest at 4.75% and 1s repayable over 1{) years with interest only payments being made during
the first two years of the agreement. Principal repayments made in 2022 amounted to $1,136 (2021
S1.171).

BCE

During July 2015, the Fund apreed to lend %4,100 to the Broadeasting Comporation of The Bahamas
(BCE) te fund its infrastructural repairs and upgrades. The loan bears interest of 3.5% and principal and
interest is repayable monthly over 20 years, Principal repayments made in 2022 amounted to $208 (2021
5220).

A8

During June 2019 the Fund agreed to lend $1,300 to the Bahamas Development Bank (BDB) to fund the
purchase of an office building in New Providence. The loan bears interest of 4.5% and principal and
interest 15 repayable quarterly over 10 years. Principal repayments made in 2022 amounted to 5115
(2021: $83).

During November 2020 the Fund agreed to convert the total $37.000 Bahamas Development Bonds 10 a
loan 1o allow the Bank 1o improve its liquidity by accessing the bond sinking fund. The loan is payable
by equal quarterly instalments over a period of 20 vears and bears interest of 3.94%. Principal
repaymenis made 1n 2022 amounted to $1.280 (2021:5927).
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The National Insurance Fund

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

7.

Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)

(q) Long-term deposits

Face Value Description
022 2021
5 5

Famuly Guardian Insurance 3,00
4,500 6,500 %; 2023

Accrued nterest

2022 2021
¥ $
6,500 6,200
1.977 1.730
8477 8,230

The interest raie on the Family Guardian Single Premium Delerred Annuity will be reviewed every

5 vears on the annuity anniversary date.

(r)  Bridge Authority bonds

Face Value Description
2022 21
b b
1,025 1,025 Prime + 1,50%; 2024
802 802 Prime + 1.63%; 2029

Accrued interest

(s)  Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited notes

Face Value Description
2022 2021
5 5

- 200 Series F Noles; Prime + 1.25%; 2022
Accimed interest

(t) The Coellege of The Bahamus redecmable term notes

Face Value Deseription
2022 2021
h] 5

738 923 7.00%; 2026
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2022 2021

$ $
1,025 1,025
802 802
1,827 1,827
29 29
1,856 1.856
2022 2021
$ $

. RO0

: 4

& 804
2022 2021
$ $
738 923
738 923
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

(Continned)

7. Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)
{u}  Public Hospital Authority bonds

Face Value Deseription

2022 2021 2022 2021
S b ] 5 h 3
7317 7982 6.00%; 2033 7317 7982
Accrued mterest 112 122

7,429 8,104

Principal repayments began in 2015 and will occur until matunty. In 2022 prncipal repayments
made were $665 (2021: 5665).

(v)  Be Aliv Notes

Face Valne  Deseription

2022 2021 2022 2021
S $ $ $
400 500 Series A B.00%:; 2026 400 500
500 500 Series B 8.50%: 2031 500 500
900 1,000
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

{(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

7. Investments at Amortised Cost (Continued)

(w) Corporate USS bonds

Face Value Description
2022 2021 2022 2021
b 3 5 b
- 397 Amazon Incorporated 2.50%:; 2022 - 393
397 397 Goldman Sachs Group 3.63%; 2023 397 394
- 397 Morgan Stanley Medium Term 4.88%; 2022 - 308
- 157 Teva Pharmaceutical Finance 2.95%: 2022 - 156
w7 397 United Health Group 2.75%: 2023 397 303
397 397 WellPomnt Incorporated 3.30%; 2023 397 394
3 397 Deer & Company 2 .60%: 2023 B 396
- 197 General Dynamies Corporation 2.25%:; 2022 - 393
397 397 General Electric Capital Group 3.10%; 2023 397 394
- 397 AT & T Incorporated 2,63%; 2022 - 393
- 397 Ebay Incorporated 2.60%; 2022 - 395
1,588 4,099
Accrued Interest 22 34
1,610 4,133
8. Net Investment in Finanee Leases
Net investment in finance leases comprise:
2022 2021
5 5
GJ'I'J.‘-\ recaivanlfas
Nol later than one year 31,960 27.385
Later than ane year and not later than five years 9,304 68,943
Later than five yiars 232,367 247,906
333,631 344,294
Uncarmned finance income {105,054 (114,076)
228,577 230,218
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

B. Net Investment in Finance Leases (Continued)

The net invesiment in {inance leases can be [urther analysed as follows:

2022 2021

% 5

Not later than one year 22419 17,564
Later than one year and not later than five years 34.848 33,192
Later than five years 171.310 179,462
228,577 230,218

Al December 31, 2022, net [inance leases were $228.577 (2021: 5230.218). The Fund previously classified the
leases in stage 3 under the expected credit loss model as payments were past due, however, during December
2018 The Bahamas Government negotiated a Promissory Note to cover all the past dus balances under the
finance and operating leases in the amount of $61,672. Set payments were to be made monthly and full
repayment was not to exceed four vears. The existing finance lease agreement remains in force for the duration
of the Promissory note and as a result the applicable interest of Prime ratet+ 1/4% (presently 4.50%) applied to
delinquent payments. During 2022 the Promissory Note balance was paid in full in the amount of $34.086
(2021:%5,254).

Al December 31, 2022, the fimance leases payments are in arrears and m default. The finance lease receivables
are listed at Stage TIT with a LGD of (% as they are collateralized by the underlving assets, the buildings, the
replacement values of which if liquidated will reduce the exposure,

The Fund presently has fifteen (2021 fifteen) office buildings being leased to The Bahamas Governiment under
fmance lease agreements. as follows:

2022 2021

$ $

Pomciana Hill, New Providence 9887 9858
Thompson Boulevard, New Providence 15,730 15,685
Claughton House, New Providence 5,304 5485
Police Headquarters, Grand Bahama 4379 4.548
Police Dormitories, Grand Bahama 1,795 1.867
Robinson Road, New Providence 3,123 3,243
Police Residences, Grand Bahama 1,951 2.029
Police Gymnasium, Grand Bahama 545 567
Police Guard House, Grand Bahama 26 27
Freeport Governiment Complex 24,972 24,957
Marsh Harbour Government Complex 25 458 26,437
Office of the Attomey General 34,629 35.962
JL Centre 30,666 30,556
JFK National Security 50,829 50,684
Bimini Complex 19,283 18,313
228577 230,218
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

Net Investment in Finance Leases (Continued)
Claughton House Limited

On September 12, 1996, the Fund purchased all of the outstanding shares of Claughton House Linmited
{formerly Chemical Realty (Bahamas) Holdings Limited) (Claughton House) whose sole asset was an ofTice
bulding in Nassau, New Providence. Effective the same date, Claughton House agreed to enter into a fifteen
{15} vear finance lease with The Bahamas Government for the office building. The payments due under the
lease agreement were set, and are to be revised as necessary, to allow the Fund to recover its capital outlay and
yield a return of 1.75% above the Prime ol 4.25% (2021: 4.25%) (an elTective rate of 6.50% per annum
20M3). This lease expired June 13, 2011, however, during 2014 construction began for the renovation of
Claughton House on behalf of the Bahamas Government and upon completion a new lease agreement was
execuled. Also during 2014 the Fund was advised of the Government’s mandate to restructure its debt thereby
reducing the amounts allocated to repayments of leasing arrangements. As a result, effective July 1, 2014 all
existing and future Finance Leases will be restructured over 25 years at (1 25% above prime rate 4.50% (2021:
4.50%). The Bahamas Government is responsible for the maintenance, insurance and taxes on all buildings
under Finance Lease arrangements.

Bahamas Government buildings

In prior years, the Ministry ol Finance negotiated appropriate funding packages with the Fund for the
consiruction or removation ol certain buildings, namely Poinciana Hill, Thompson Boulevard, Police
Headquarters, Police Dormitories, Robinson Road, Police Residences, Police Gymnasium and Police Guard
House. The Fund has execuled lease agreements with The Bahamas Government for these buldings, on the
same terms as the finance lease mvolving Claughton House,

Date Construction/
Location Renovation Commenced
Pomeciana Hill, New Providence 1998
Thompson Boulevard, New Providence 20000
Claughton House, New Providence 2014
Police Headquarters, Grand Bahama 2000
Police Dormitories, Grand Bahama 2001
Robinson Road, New Providence 2004
Police Residences. Grand Bahama 200
Police Gymmnasium, Grand Bahama 2001
Police Guard House, Grand Bahama 2001
Freeport Governmen! Complex 2009
Marsh Harbour Government Complex 2009
Office of the Attorney 2009
JL Cenire, Blake Road 2012
JFK National Security 2013
Bimini Complex 2014

The Fund financed the construction or renovation and fumishing of these buildings.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022
{Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

(Continued)
9, Investment Property
Farrington
Road
Bumilding Total
% $
As of January |, 2022 3,307 3,307
As of December 31, 2022 3.307 3,307
As of January 31, 2021 3,307 3,307
As of December 31, 2021 3.307 3,307

10.

The fair values of investment properties are determined every three years by an independent professionally
qualified appraiser. In determining the valuations, the appraiser refers to the weighted average of the Cost
Approach and the Income Approach with reference to diseounted cash Mows that consider assumptions such as
rental rates and market discount rates. The Farrington Road building was appraised as at December 31, 2020,

The Fund ranks it non-financial assets carried at fair value based on the hierarchy of valuation techniques
required by IFRS as described in Note 6. The Fund classifies all investiment property as Level 3 assels.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as it relates to rental income and
direct operating, expenses for investment properties are as follows:

2022 2021

5 5

Renial ncome 388 388
Direct operaling expenses

On property that did not generate rental income - 33

= a3

Operating lease agreement for The Bahamas Government. Farrington Road, New Providence 1s expired and
new lerm are being negotiated.

Investment in Associales

As at December 31, 2022, the Fund owned 4,334 453 (2021: 4,334,453) of the ordinary voting shares of Bank
of the Bahamas Limited (BOB), representing 11.66% (2021: 11.74%) of the total outstanding ordinary veting
shares and 6,022,945 (2021: 6,022,945) non-voling ordinary shares. The Fund has deternuned it stull has
significant influence as it holds a seat an the board and participates in all significant financial and operating
decisions. The cumulative net unrecognised losses on BOB at December 31, 2022 are 39,050 (2021: $10,934).

The number of shares owned by the Fund in Cable Bahamas tatal 9,482,759 (2021: 9,482 759), representing
21.61% (2021:21.61%) of the Lotal cutstanding voting shares. The cumulative nel unrecognised losses on CAB
at December 31, 2022 are 85,951 (2021: §5,830).
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

10. Investment in Associates (Continued)

The associates reported the [ollowing balances and fransactions as of, and for the twelve months ended,
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

MNet Income!
Assets Liabilities Total Income {Loss)
5 b b b
2022
Bank of The Bahamas Limited 971,469 796,738 51,503 16,166
Cahle Bahamas Limited 520,840 488,750 B2 485 (560
2021
Bank of The Bahamas Limuted 891212 720,000 46 948 4,135
Cable Bahamas Limited 525,509 478,763 58,9068 (22,990)
11.  Computer Seftware
Computer software comprises:
Tuotal
$
Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2022 19,205
Additions 297
[hsposal -
Balance as at December 31, 2022 19502
Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at January 1. 2022 9238
Amortisation expense 1417
Disposals ~
Balance as at December 31, 2022 10.655
Net book value as at December 31, 2022 8.%47
Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2021 18.794
Additions 411
Dispaosal -
Balance as nt December 31, 2021 19205
Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at January 1, 2021 7,965
Amorlisation expense 1.273
Disposals -
Balance as nt December 31, 2021 0238
Net book value as at December 31, 2021 0967
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

12. Property and Equipment (Continued)

Office Medical
Land & Furniture & Computer Motor Land Leaschold Equipment
Buildings Equipment Hardware Vehicles Improvement Assels & Vehicles Total
b 3 5 b 5 § b b
Cast
Balance as at January 1, 2021 117,951 4871 9,278 2,103 844 1,511 12,666 149,226
Additions 33 265 378 33 74 14 - 1319
Disposals (233) (22) (1,078 (198) - - (1317 (1,662
Balance as at December 31, 2021 117,751 5,114 9,078 1,962 218 1,523 12,535 148,883
Accumulated deprecation
Balance as at January 1, 2021 34738 4 088 7021 1,992 - 530 9,152 57521
Charge for the vear 2817 199 1,151 90 - 72 821 5350
Disposuls (163) (19) (1,078) (198) - - (131 (1,580}
Balance as at December 31, 2021 37392 4,268 7.004 1,884 - 802 9,842 61,282
Net book value as at December 31, 2021 80,359 846 1,984 78 918 723 2,693 47,601

Right of use assets of §723 is included in property and equipment.

Land & Buildings Medical Equipment & Vehicles

2022 2021 22 2021

5 5 3 3

Cost 90,003 90,003 12,534 12,535
Accumulated depreciation (24,492) (22,275) (10,531) (9.842)

Net book value 65,511 67,728 2,003 2,693

81
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

13.  Constraction in Progress — Finance Leases

The Fund finances the construction and [urmshing of buildings, with the mntention of entening mio finance leases
with The Bahamas Government, and transferring ownership of the buildings to The Bahamas Government at

the end of the leases. The table below discloses the movements during the respective years.

Balance as at January |

Addions

Interest income (Note 17)

Transfer to nel mvestmen! i fnance leases

Balance as at December 31

14,  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses comprise:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued vacation pay

Unclaimed benefits

Employee pension contributions

Other

2022 2021
3 5
23,117 86,543
1.833 2,552
- 623

- {66901 )
24,950 23,117
2022 2021
5 $
6,656 6,426
4,693 4,689
324 427
3 270
332 50
12,008 11.862

Accounts payable and acerued expenses are all current with the exception lease liability non-current amount of

916 {2021:5501) as shown below,

Lease Liability

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

The consclidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the following amounts related to leases:

Finance cost

The total cash outflows [or leases in 2022 was 5298 (2021 $321).

82 THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2022 2021
b $

271 275
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

15.

Staff Pension Fund

The Fund has a defined benefit pension plan for eligible employees, whereby the Fund makes contributions
thal entitles a retired employee (normal retirement age 15 60) (o receive an annual pension based on years of
service and the average earnings of the 3 consecutive years prior to retirement. The Fund's contributions to the
defined benefit pension plan are recognised in the censolidated statement of comprehensive loss in the vear 10
which they relate. The pension plan is separately administered by a corporate trustee. The Fund is exposed o

actuanal risks, such as longevity. currency. mterest rate and markel risk.

The amounts recogmised in the consohidated stalement of financial position are delermined as follows:

2022 2021
5 $
Presenl value of defined benefit obligations 145 261 140,657
Fair value of plan assets (113.357) (101,732)
Funded status- Delicit 31,904 38,925
Net  liability arising from defined benefit  obligation in
consolidated statement of financial position 31,904 38,925
The current liability of the staff pension fund 15 $8_ 80(0.
The movements in the present value of the defined benelil obligations are as [ollows:;
2022 2021
b b
As at January 1 140,657 143,114
Interest cost 7,522 7,255
Current service cosl 4,129 4,271
Employee comtnbutions 1,225 [,OB0
Benefits paid (5.456) (6.732)
Actuanal gains (2.816) (8.331)
As at December 31 145,261 140,657

The present value of the defined benefir obligation as a1 December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, was 5143114,

$138.930, and $135.166 respectively.
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MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

15.

Stafl Pension Fund (Continued)

The defined benefil obligation is allocated between the plan’s members as [ollows:

2022 2021
3 %o 5 %o
Active members 88,753 023 85,279 6.0
Inactive members 36,508 377 55,378 9.4
As at December 31 145,261 10000 140,657 100.0
As at December 31, 2022, the duration of the hability is 14.09 years.
The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
2022 2021
b b
As al January 1 101,732 92 897
Expected return on plan assels 5,480 4,727
Contributions 11225 10,280
Benelits paid (53.456) (6.732)
Actuarial gains 599 8O3
Administration and Other non-Plan Investment Management Expenses {229) (245)
As at December 31 113,357 101,732
The allocation of plan assets as al December 31, 2022 is as follows:
2022 2021
5 b
Asset Alloeation
Cash on hand and at banks 4.440 6,994
Certificates of deposit 2,720 1,602
Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss 28.241 19,667
Loans and receivables 77,202 72,775
Net current assels 154 689
Fair valuwe of plan assets at end of vear 113,357 101,732

All of the plan assets are domiciled in the Commonwealth of The Bahamas and are held in a sepatate Trust
under the direction of the Trustee. Equity securities which are at fair value through profit or loss are quoted on

the Bahamas International Securities Exchange.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

15.

Siafl Pension Fund (Continued)

The expense recognised in the consolidated stalement of comprehensive loss comprises:

Current service cost
Inlerest expense

Administration and Other non Plan Tnvestment Management Expenses

Total pension expense (See Note 22)

2022 2021
$ $
4129 4271
2,036 2,528
229 245
6,394 7,044

Emplover contributions to be paid to the staff pension fund in the subsequent vear are estimated at §12.357
(2021: $11.257). Employee contributions to be paid to the stafl pension fund in the subsequent year are

estimated at §1,259 (2021: §1,143).

The movements in the habihity in the consolidaled statement of financial position are as follows:

As al January 1

Pension expense recognised

Contributions — employer

Actuarial gains for year —from experience

Actuarial gains for vear-plan assets

Actuarial gains from changes in economic assumpiions

As at December 31

The principal actuarial assumptions used at December 3| were:

Rates per annuam
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Future salary increase
al age 18
ai age 59

2022 2021
$ $
38,925 50,217
6,394 7.044
(10,000) (9,200)
(1,285) (3,204)
(599) (805
(1,531) (5,127)
31,904 38,925
2022 2021
3.325% 3.25%
5.325% 5.25%
5.00% 5.00%
5.00% 5.00%

Early retirement rates used were (% belore completing 30 years of pensionable service and 10% after
completing 30 vears of pensionable service. Mortality rates have been taken from the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner
Mortality Generational Table s 2023 with Projection Scale AA (2021: 1994 Uninsured Pensioner Mottality
Generational Table at 2022 with Projection Scale AA). The mortality rates used for December 31, 2022 allow

[or improvements m life expectancy as illustraled below:

Gender
Age Male Female
Age 60 1n 2022 25.11 27.07
Age 60 1n 2} years 26.607 27.90
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

{(Continued)
15.  Staff Pension Fund (Continued)

5‘.:.:-:.-?|u|ry a‘qnarycu-:

The calculation of the defined benelin obligation is sensitive (o the assumpuions used. The following lable
summarizes how the defined benefit abligation as at December 31, 2022 would have changed as a result of a
change in the assumptions used.

Discount Rate

Future salary increase 3.33% 4.33% 6.33%

3 b 5
5.00% 145,261 168,053 127118
4.50% 142,908 164,975 125,293
5,508 147,774 171,350 129,062

The defined benefit obligation would be 148,147 if the average life expectancy 1s increased by one year.

These sensitivities were calculated by re-calculating the defined benefit obligations using the revised
assumplions.

16. Fidelity Bend Reserve

Pursuant (o Section 12 of the Regulations, NIB has estabhished a fidelity bond reserve (o msure the Fund agamnst
the risk of defalcation by cashiers, storekeepers or other custodians of the property of the Fund.

There was no income or expenditure in respect of this reserve for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

17. Income from Investments

2022 2021
b $
Income from trustee securities:
Bahamas Government registered stocks 21.274 23 967
Bahamas Government treasury bills 1.112 29
22,386 24,056
Income from other securities:
Certificates of deposit 73 652
Brokers (4113 (121)
Long term deposits 247 240
Nassau Auport Developmenl Company Limited debl secunities 6,950 6,729
Bahamas Mortgage Corporation bonds 3,338 3,335
Dividends from ordinary and preference shares 2,053 1,862
Education Loan Authority bonds 1.253 1,002
Bahamas Government US$ notes 4,203 2,090
Bahamas Government US$ loan 1.174 1,082
Bahamas Government BS noles 93 136
Bahamas Power & Light Company Limited bonds 1,221 1,627
Government of Barbados USS bonds 160 157
Chiiton Herttage Authority bonds 388 388
United States of America USS treasury notes 12 -
Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited noles 18 44
The College of The Bahamas redeemable term notes 58 71
Bridge Authority bonds 106 106
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

17.  Income from Investments (Continued)

2022 2021
$ 5
Income from other securities: {continued)
Government of Trinidad & Tobago USS bonds 77 77
Loans (o Bahamas Government entities 2,078 2,840
Public Hospital Authority bonds 469 509
Carporate US$ bonds 111 211
Be Aliv notes 83 83
23,754 23,120
2022 2021
h b
Income/{(loss) from other investments:
Interest income on net invesiment in finance leases 10,784 10,797
Interest income on consiruction in progress — finance leases (Note 13) - 623
Net unrealised gain on mmvestments at fair value through profit or loss (Note 6) 8,545 15.602
Net realised gain/(loss) on other investments 538 (44)
19,867 26,978
66,007 74,154
18.  Income from Property
2022 2021
$ b
Rental income:
Freeport office complex 727 704
New Providence buildings 454 454
Polychnics 2117 2112
3,298 3270

19.  Capital Values of Awards of Periodically Payable Disablement and Death Benefits

Section 20(3) of the Regulations provides that the capatal value of periodically payable disablement and death
benefits awarded in a year is charged against the year’s income in the income and expenditure account of the
indusirial benefits branch. It is also credited to a current account, which is further crediied with the income
from the mvestment of the said reserve and debited with the actual payments of periodical disablement and
death benefits affected during the vear. The balance 15 then transferred at the end of the vear to the reserve
account. The expenditure of the industrial benefit branch and the income of the disablement and death benelits
reserve are eliminated in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss,
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

(Continued)

20.

21.

Assets/Liabilities Included in Other Assets (See Note 30)

Amount invested in other assels comprises:

Cash on hand

Cash at banks — ewrrent accounts

Cash at brokers

Receivables and advances

Prepaid expenses and deposits
Compuier sofrware

Property and equipment

Construction m progress — finance leases
Accounts payable and acerued expernses
Accrued benefits payable

Other Administrative Expenses

Cther administrative expenses comprise:

Repairs and maintenance
Utilities

Consultancy fees

Printing, stationery and computer supplies
Transportation and travel
Training and scholarships
Janitonal

Advertising and publicity
External security

Rent

Mator vehicles

Insurance

Legal expenses

Audit fees

Real property tax

Bank charges

Tribunal membership

Finance cost-lease liability
Value Added Tax Expense
Other miscellancous expenses
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2022 2021
$ $
65 65
37.175 21.865
6,248 4,458
84.030 182,136
881 859
8,847 9,967
16,098 17.180
24,950 23,117
(12,008) (11.862)
(15.461) (16,58%)
150.825 231,197
2022 2021
$ s
3975 3422
1,287 1416
553 199
736 808
264 272
256 269
438 497
101 93
460 362
243 234
210 186
333 315
158 155
216 216
264 76
810 620
23 7
53 52
1,172 1.283
50 47
11,602 10,529




The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

22, Employee Benefits

2022 2021

¥ 5

Pension expense (Note 15) 6,394 T.044
Pension expense allocated to the Drug Fund (189 (179)

6,205 6. 865

Staff salaries and allowance 27952 26,670

Group health plan 5.176 4,628

National insurance contribulions 1.164 1.104

Other benefits 373 377

40,870 39,644

23. Financial Risk Management

The Fund’s activities expose 1l to a varety of linancial risks: markef nisk (comprising price and inieresi rate
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and currency risk. The Fund’s overall Risk Management program seeks to
maximise the returns derived for the level of risk to which the Fund is exposed and seeks (o minimise potential
adverse effects on the Fund’s Performance.

Management of these risks is camied out by the Invesiment and Finance & Audil Commuitiees under policies
approved by the Board. There have been no changes to the Fund®s process during the vear. The methods used
are described below,

Market Risk
!'Tr fce Ilﬁjr'nk

Price nisk is the risk that the value of the financial instruments held at fair value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in marke! prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security. ils
1sster or [actors affecimg all securities traded m the market. The Fund manages i1s nsks by momitoring the pnice
movement of securities on the local and foreign stock exchanges.

The Fund is exposed 10 securities price tisk because of investments held by the Fund designated as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising ffom investments in equity securities,
the Fund diversifies 1ts porifolio in accordance with the hmits set by the Investment Commuitiee. The Fund’s
expostre to price risk is detailed in Note 6. All of the Fund’s investments at fair value are publicly fraded and
included in the S&P 500 index or are listed on the Bahamas International Securities Exchange (BISX). If the
BISX and S&P 500 indices increased/decreased 20% (2021 6%) with all other variables held constant, this
would have increased/decreased reserves $15.650 (2021- 84 182}

IEET?E reast rate rish

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial mstruments will Duetuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The majority of the Fund's financial instruments are directly linked 1o
Prime (which has nol experienced frequent significant changes in prior years) or have short terms o maturities
and therelore lair value mterest rale risk 15 considered (o be nummal, The resulting cash ODow interest rate 11sk
is not hedged and considered a profit opportunity.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
({Continued)

23.

Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk

Jia’-'ﬁk mafagemasnt

Credit sk 1s the nsk that a counterparty may be unable to perform according to the terms of a contract. Credit
risk arises mainly from investments in debt securities, cash at banks, receivables and advances and receivables
from finance leases. Credil risk is managed by the Fund on a group basis. The Fund places its invesimenis with
custodians in good standing with the Secunties Commission of The Bahamas or equivalent regulators,
Certificates of deposit and cash at banks are placed with financial institutions in good standing with the Central
Bank of The Bahamas or equivalent regulators. The Fund uses external rating agency credil ratings 1o assess
the creditworthiness of its financial assets. The PD’s associated with each grade are determined based on
realised delault rates as published by the external rating agency. For those fmancial assels which have no
externally published credit ratings, the Fund assesses on an individual basis the credit quality of the counterparty
1aking into account their financial performance, past experience and other relevant factors.

Munurlum GADOLUrE

As at December 31, 2022, the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk before considering any collateral held
15 the carrying amount of fnancial assets in the amount $1.378291 (2021: $1.436,512), principally
concenirated with The Bahamas Government, which as at December 31, 2022 had foreign and local currency
debt ratings of Bl (2021: Ba3) issued by Moody's. As at that date, the Fund had investments, loans and
recervables with The Bahamas Government and its entities totalling S 1,071,388 (2021; $1.069,740).

frr.lpa frrmant af inanc)al sLL0rs

The Fund has three types of financial assets that are subject (o the expecied credit loss model:
e [ebimmvestments classified at amoriised cost;
e Contributions receivable; and
& Netinvestment in finance leases (scc Note §),

Debt investments at amorbised cost

The Fund bas assessed ifs cash balances held with financial institutions o be mvestment grade based on the
external credit rating of the counterpartics. As such all balances have been classified at Stage 1 at December
31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 The table below reconciles the loss allowance recognised at December 31,
2022

2022 2021

$ 5

Opening allowance at January 1, 37 15
Inerease i expecied credil loss 8 22
Closing allowance at December 31, 45 37

The following table shows the analysis of the credit risk exposure for debt instruments classified at amortised
cost for which an ECL allowance 1s recognised. The gross carrying amount of the debt mstruments represents
the Fund's maximum expasure ta the eredit risk of these assets
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The National Insurance Fund

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)
-__:.__—...u:..:n.:._ af financial assets ___.m..J:—._._En.Q.._._

Debl investmenis al amorised cost (continued})

Sovercign
Bahamms Covermment wegistered siocks
Bahamas Govemment BS notes
Dahamas CGiovermmen! treasury bills
Bahamas Govemment USH notes
Bahamas Govermument USH loan
Government of Barbados USS bonds
Governretit of Trinidad & Tobago TUSS bends

Comporate
Certilicatas of depost
Bahamas Mortgage Corporation honds
Massau Anport Development Company Lumrted debl securshies
Educaton Loan Awthority bonds
Bahamas Power and Light Company Linnted bonds
Preference shares
Cliften Heritage Auwthority bonds
Latin American Investinent Bank (Bahamas) Ltd, bonds
Loas o Bahamas Government entities
Long-term deposits
Bridge Anthority bonds
Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited notes
The College of The Bahamas redeemable term notes
Public Hospital Avthority bonds
Be Alw Note

Comaornte USE bonds

Carrying
Credit Grade  Amortised Cost Singe 1 Stage 2 Stuge 3 PO ECL Value 2021
5 5 b 3 3 3 $ b
Non investment 463331 121,381 341,950 = 7 (12.017) 451.314 4759368
Nom investment 1415 - 1.415 - " (2] L4413 2847
Mon mvestment 1,761 1,761 - - - - L1761 1.7T17
Mo investment 61338 31082 30,256 - - (1.618] 59720 30,253
Non mvestment 12,150 12150 - - - (13) 12,135 13,513
Non investmcnt 2455 - - - 1,455 - 2455 2453
Non investment 2046 - L0046 - - - 2,045 2057
244496 166,374 373,667 2455 {13.654) S30LE4S 331208
Mon investment - - - - - - - 6,564
Mon mvestment %5 804 . A0,779 15,115 . (&, 776) 27118 95,8094
Mon imvestment 95,132 05,132 - - - (314) 94,818 91.678
MNon mvestment AD370 - 30,370 - - (%37) 29,513 30542
Non investment 18,576 - 18,576 - - (467 18,104 18,573
Moo mvestment L0, 56 2,000 B.500 - = (87) 10413 LS00
MNon mvestment 7993 7993 - - (419) T.574 7993
MNon investment - - - - - - - 3,503
Non invesiment 33584 B.104 39,683 78T . (4,496 51,088 38,104
Non investmemnt 2477 BATT - - " (18) B452 8,230
MNon investmcnt 1,856 L5556 - - - (i) |, 853 1,856
MNon mvestmoent - - - - - - - 204
Mon invesiment Tas 738 - - - 0 737 223
Non investment 7429 TA29 - - - (123 TA4LT #1044
Mo investment Q00 G0 - - - (3] 897 1,000

[nvesmaent &

Nom investment 1,610 1610 - - - - Le10 4,133
335.0%9 116,246 183,901 22912 - (15453) 319606 348401
BT9.555 192620 561,568 21911 2455 (29,105) B0 450D BE0.G09
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements

December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

{Continued)

23. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (confinued)

II'|'|'ll,'-|!?I'l'.""l'.l".llf' oF Hnancig) 3asFEats E’C‘GHCH?UO&‘)I

Debi invesimenis al amoriised cosl {conlinued)

The following table contains an analysis of debt mstruments of the Fund by credit quality at December 31, 2022
based on credit risk grades and discloses the balances by three stages for the purpose of ECL measurcment.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stape 3 POCT 2022
$ 5 3 b b
Sovercign Investment Securities
Credit grade:
Investment - - - - -
MNon-investment 166,374 375,667 - 2,455 544496
Gross carrying amount 166,374 375,667 - 2.455 544 496
Loss allowance (239 (13.413) - - (13,652)
Carrying amount 166,135 362,254 - 2.455 530,844
Corporate Investment Securities
Credit grade:
Investment 1.610 - - - L&l
Non-investment 124,636 185,901 22912 - 333 449
Gross carrying amount 126,246 185,901 22912 - 335,059
Loss allowance (383) {#,RB5) (6,185) - (15.453)
Carrying amount 125,863 177,016 16,727 - 319,606
Total Investment Securities
Credit grade:
Investment 1.610 - - - 1.610
Non-investmenl 291,010 561,568 22912 2455 R77.945
Gross carrying amount 292 620 361,568 22912 2,455 879 555
Loss allowance (622) {22 .298) (6,185) - (29.105)
Carrying amount 291,998 539,270 16,727 2.455 850,450
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

{Continued)

13.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)

.I'lmp.nerr:nr a¥ Firamodal assets f:nn:rnur‘:p‘}l'

Debt investments at amortised cost (continucd)

The following table contaims the comparative snalysis of debl instruments of the Fund by credil quality at

December 31, 2021.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 2021
b 5 5 $ b
Sovereign Investment Securities
Credit grade:
Investment - - - - -
Non-investment 101,622 428,133 - 2.453 532,208
(Gross carrying amount 101,622 428,133 - 2,453 532,208
[Loss allowance (115) (15,040 = - (15,155)
Carrying amount 101,507 413,093 - 2453 517,053
Corporate Investment Securities
Credil grade;
Investment 3977 - - 3.977
Non-investment 165,134 168,237 11,053 - 344 424
Giross carrying amount 169,111 168,237 11.053 - 348 401
Loss allowance (652) {5.554) (24100 - (5616)
Carrying amount 168,459 162 683 2.643 339,785
Total Investment Securities
Credit grade:
[nvestment 3977 . - - 3977
Non-investment 266,756 596,370 11,053 2,453 876,632
Gross carrying amount 270,733 396370 11,053 2453 880,609
Loss allowance (767) (20,594} (2,410} - (23,771)
Carrying amount 269,966 575,776 8,643 2,453 856,838
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

23,

Financial Risk Managemeni (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)

JrrnrJn.‘r'mﬁ:.lu of Flrrancial s ssats |'lc-:pf7r.'.'rr;.-l|'!_|J

Debt investments at amortised cost (continued)

The expected credit loss for financial assets which are measured at amortised cost is impacied by several factors,
imeluding:

e Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due (o linancial assels expenencing sigmficant increases
(or decreases) of credit risk or becoming eredit-impaired during a financial period, and the consequent
change between |2-month ECL and lifetime ECL.

# Increases for provision and/or allowances for new financial assets recognised during a financial period,
and decreases for financial assets derecogmised in a [inancial pened.

e [mpacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to model methodologies and assumptions.

® Decreases in provision and/or allowances related to financial assets written off during a financial period.

The local and foreipn currency sovereign credit ratings of The Bahamas remained unchanged with a stable
outlook during 2022, The downgrade during 2021 was due (o the economie impact of the decline in the ourism
seclor, sluggish fiscal reform, and mcreased fiscal deficits. Inflation rose as a resull of the merease cost of food
and fuel brought on by the war in Ukraine in addition to other natural disasters due to climate change. During
2022, the Bahamian economy experienced significant growth with a robust rebound in the tourism sector as air
and sea traffic surpassed the prior year 2021 levels, In addition, there is continued stimulus in the construction
sector with post-linricane buildings works. The external reserves are projected Lo remain more than adequate
to mamtan the Bahamian dollar currency in spite of the forecasied local and external borrowings Lo finance the
debt. As such, management has elected to maintain the Stage T elassification and apply the S&P credit rating to
the sovercign investments which were purchased afier 2016 and those purchased prior to were classified as
Stage 1T when the Bahamas credit rating declined beyond investment grade. In 202 1, Stage I classification was
maintained and the 8 & P credit rating was used. The S&P historic credit ratings, resulis in 8 more conservative
estmmale.

The Fund's ECL model uses GDP as one of its main factor due to the high concentration of sovereign
imvestments

The IMF reported a real GDP growth of 8.00% for 2022 and forecasts a GDP growth rate of 4. 10% for 2023_
down [rom 13.72% in 2021 represeniing a modesi growth following sirong rebound in the post-COVID-19
economy in prior years. However, management has determined to use a more conservative estimate of 5.03%,
which represents the average GDP growth for The Bahamas for 2022 (8.00%) and the following two forecasted
vears 2023 (4.10%) and 2024 (3.00%).

In addition (o the GDP growih rate being used, management has adopied the use of three cconomic scenarios
in the global economic environment. They represent a “most likely ontcome’ (Base case) and two, less likely
scenarios on either side of the Base line, referred to as a "Best” and a “Worst' case scenario respectively. The
three economic probability-weighted scenarios were estimated as Base case 85%; Best ease 10% and Worst
case 5%

The following tables explain the stage changes n the gross carrying amount and the loss allowance for debt
securities between the beginning and the end of the annual period. Included in the table are the gross carrying
amounis for the debi securities purchased within the year.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

23,

Financial Risk Managemeni (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)

|'Im_|1.':err:.r|r af Moancial assets fﬂn?ﬂrl:ﬁchd)J

Debt investments at amoriised cost (continucd)

Sovereign Invesiment Securities

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2022
Tramslers:
Transfer from Stage | 1o Stage 2
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 o Stage 1
Transler rom Siage 2 lo Stage 3
Tramsfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New financial asscts orginated or purchased
Changes lo exposure other than full derecognition
Financial assets derecognised dunng the period

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2022

Sovereign Investment Securities

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer trom Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Mew financial assets originated or purchased
Changes m risk parameters and exposure
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Financial assets derccognised during the period

Lass allowance as at December 31, 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
§ $ $ 5
101,622 428,133 2 2453 532,208
66,088 - - E 66,088
(1,336) (1,440} 2 (2,774

- (51.026) - (51,026)
166,374 375,667 - 2,455 544.49%6
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCT Total
5 $ 5 5 $

115 15.040 - - 15,155

80 =] - - &0

44 (1,388) - - {1544}

- (39 - = (39

239 13,413 - - 13,652
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

23,

Financial Risk Managemeni (Continued)

Credit risk {(continued)

fmanrmr:nr af Faamcial assees [:.:\nhnur‘:n’,}

Debt investments at amortised cost (continued)

Sovereign Investment Securities

Gross carrving amount as ar January 1, 2021
Iransfers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Siage 2 (o Stage 1
Transfer {rom Siage 2 1o Siage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
INew financial asscts originated or purchased
Changes 1o exposure other than full derecomibon
Finaneial assels derecognised durng the period

Gross carrving amount as at December 31, 2021

Sovereign Investment Securities

Laoss allowance as at January 1, 2021
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
I'ranster from Stage 2 1o Stage 3
Transler from Stage 3 (o Stnge 2
Mew hmancial assets onginated or purchased
Changes in risk parameters and exposures
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised duning the period

Laoss allowance as at December 31, 2021

Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 3 POCI Total
5 b ] 5 b
381,875 2,067 - 2,466 586408
(426,785) 426,785
3,049 3049
(74) {(719) 2 (791
(56,443) - (157 (56.458)
101,622 428,133 2453 532,208
Stage 1 Stnge 2 Stage 3 POCH Total
B b b b ¥
502 9 - - 511
(37H) 378 - - .
4 - - - 4
- 14,653 - - 14,653
33 N = = 33
(46) s s {46)
115 15040 - - 15,1558
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)

(Continued)

23. Financial Risk Management {Continued)
Credit risk (continned)

Jmpnarmr‘:nr af Fnamcia| assces I'fi,-.n nt]nucn‘,’

Debt investments at amorfised cost (continued)

Corporate Investment Securities

Gross carrving amount as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Trapsfer from Siage 1 10 Stage 2
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 1o Stage 1
Transfer lrom Stage 2 (o Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New financial asscts originated or purchased
Changes lo exposure other than full derecogmbion
Finmmeiol assels derecognised dunng the period

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2022

Corporate Investment Securities

Loss allowance as at January 1.2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
Transfer from Stuge 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New financial assets originated or purchased
Changes in nsk parameters and exposure
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised during the period

Loss nllowance as st December 31, 2022

Stage 1 Stape 2 Stage 3 POCI Tuatal
5 § 5 8 §
169,111 168,237 11,053 S 348,401
(37,700 37,760 -
(15,115 15,115 =
1611 {1,704) 247 64
(6,716) {3,187) (3.503) (13, 406)
126,246 185,901 22912 - 335,089
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCT Total
b b 5 ] b
B2 5,554 2410 - B616
(222) 222 - =
- {137) 137 - -
- LE36 38580 - 5716
a7 1.432 129 £ 1.524
{10} (22} {371) - (403}
383 &8RS 6,185 - 15,453
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Notes te the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk (continued)

J'r{JIPIJJJ frlaal af Flfrg Rcial o Saals |"c(_'rr[rnl_rc'l..l',.’lI

Debt investmenis at amortised cost {continued)
Corporate Investment Securities

Gross carrving amount as at Janaary 1, 2021
Translers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transter from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transter from Siage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New linancial assets originated or purchased
Changes to exposure olther than full derecogmtion
Financial assets derecopmsed dunng the penod

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021
Corporate Investment Sccurities

Loss allowance as at January 1,2021
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 1o Stage 2
Transfer {rom Stage 1 (o Siage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
Transter from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transter from Stage 3 to Stage 2
MNew financial assets originated or purchased
Changes in risk parameters and exposures
Changes to model assumprions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised during the period

Laoss allowance as at December 31, 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
8 5 b § h]
206,355 L I63 10,257 - 417775
(141.197) 141,197
62,037 (62.037) -

327 73 706 - 1196
{48411} [22.159) y . {70570}
169,111 168,237 11,053 - 348401

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 PocCl Total
$ s b s 5
590 5,304 2,788 - R.088
(245} 245 - - =
4.796 (4,796) = . x
4,555) 4,559 - - 4
155 250 (378) - 27
(35) (8 £ B (103)
652 5,554 2,410 - B.616
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MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23,

Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Lnr.ln.‘rr.nn.uu of flrrancial assats I‘:I’- E)Ih'lrllJﬂdJ:l

Debt investments at amorhised cost {continued)

Total Investment Securities

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Tramsfer from Stage [ 1o Stage 3
Transfer [rom Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer trom Stage 3 to Stage 2
New hinancial assets orgimated or purchased
Changes o exposure other than [ull derecognition
Financial asscts derceognised during the period

Gross carrving amount as at December 31, 2022

Total Investment Securities

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
Transter from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transter from Stage 3 lo Stage 2
New hnancial assets ongmated or purchased
Changes in risk parameters and exposure
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised dunng the period

Loss allowance as at December 31, 2022

Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 3 POCI Total
b3 5 b b 5
270,733 596,370 11,053 2,45 880,604
(37.760}) 37,760 s E:
- (15,115) 15,115 -
G EE . . - B0, R
275 (3.234) 247 2 (2,710}
(6,716} {34,213) (3,503} = (64.432)
292,620 561,568 22,912 2458 879555
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
b b ] 5 5 ¥
767 20,594 2410 23,771
(222} 222 B
- (137) 137 - -
&0 - - - 80
- 1,836 3,880 - 5716
7 (156) 129 - (20)
(1) (61) (371) — (442}
621 11,298 6,185 - 19,105

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022

929



100

The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.

Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)

JllfJ'rj.lHJJ"ﬂIf.l.'.II arf riagncial Jesols (’r.‘r_"r:lz.lnur..lﬂ’_.‘l'

Debt investments at amortised cost (continued)

Total Investment Securities

Gross carrving amount as at January 1, 2021
Transfers:
Transfer trom Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stige 1 (o Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 o Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New financial assets origimated or purchosed
Changes to exposure other than full derecognition
Financial assels derecogmsed during the period

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021

Total Investment Securitics

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2021
Translers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
Transfor from Siage 2 1o Stage 3
Transfer from Siage 3 lo Slage 2
New finangial assets originated or purchased
Changes in risk parameters and exposures
Changes lo model nssumptions and methodologies
Financial assels derecogmsed dunng the penod

Loss allowance us at December 31, 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCIL Total
B 5 5 $ s
B78.23( 113,230 10,257 2,466 1,004,183
(367,982} 567,982 - -
62,037 (62 037) = z £
3,049 - - - 3,049
253 (646 796 2 405
(104,854} (22.159) = (13) (127,028 )
270,733 596,370 11,053 2,453 BRO600
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
5 5 5 5 §
1.0%8 5313 2788 - 9,194
(623} 623 - - -
4,796 (4,796) 3 o =
4 - - - 4
(4,555) 19212 - - 14,657
188 250 (378) - a0
141y (8) - - (149)
T67 20,504 1410 - 13,771
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.

Financial Risk Management (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)
.lllJ'.':'PJJJ"I‘HUrII arf rfaancizl gesals fl;'.'r.lnL.'.r:luu&_Jl

Receivables and Advanees

The following tables demonstrates the stape changes in the gross carrying amount for receivables and advances
excluding contributions receivables and the loss allowance for the balances between the beginning and the end

of the annual periad.

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage | {o Stage 2
Transfer [rom Stage | to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 1o Siage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage
New [inancial assets ongimated or purchased
Changes lo exposure other than full derecogmtion
Financial assets derecogmised during the period
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2022

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2021
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Siage 2 to Stage |
Transfer from Stage 2 1o Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
New financial assets onginated or purchased
Changes to exposure other than full derecognition
Financial asseis derecogmised dunng the period
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
5 $ 5 5
135.643 - - 135.643
1.614 - - 1614
{94,209y - - {94.209)
43,048 - - 43,048
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
5 $ 5 5
114,716 - - 114.716
30.467 - - 30.467
(9.540) - - (9,540)
135,643 = = 135,643
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thowusands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

13,

Finaneial Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk (continned)
Jmpnarmr‘:nr af Fnamcia| assces I'fi,-.n nt.-nucn‘,l

Receivables and Advances (comtinued)

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2022
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer fromn Stage 2 1o Stage |
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Traopsfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New fnancial asseis originaied or purchased
Changes to model assumpiions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised during the penod
Loss allowanee as at December 31, 2022

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2021
Translers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage |
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New financial assels originated or purchased
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Financial assets derecognised during the period
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Tatal

b ¥ ¥ 5

54 - - 54
(33) - - (33)

21 - - 21

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

5 $ $ 5

16 - - 16

15 - - 15

23 - . 23

54 - - 54
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.  Financial Risk Management (Confinued)
Credit risk (continued)

|'Im,n.r.urr.'?r:r.|r af ffonancéial asscts |rr.|1nnrnur:n‘_,l

Contnbution receivables

The Fund applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected eredil losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all contribution receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, contribution receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates for the contributions receivable are based on the
payment profiles of contribution income over a period of 12 months before December 31, 2022 or December
31, 2021 respectively and the corresponding histerical credit losses expenenced willon this peniod. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconoinic factors
affecting the ability of the employers (o settle the receivable balances.

The Fund has identified GDP growth rate of The Bahamas (which is the country in which its registranis are
domiciled) lo be the most relevant factor. and accordingly adjusis the lustorical loss rates based on expected
changes i this factor.

The table below outlines the loss allowance for contributions receivable as at December 31, 2022 and December

31,2021

December 31, 2022 Current 31-60 dayvs  61-M) days Over 90 days Total
$ % $ $ b

Loss rate 2.4% 12.0% 32.4% 79.0%,

Contribution receivable 25,079 6,035 5,260 36,335 72,715

Loss allowance 61l 723 1,708 28,702 31744

December 31, 2021 Current  31-60 days  61-M days Over 20 days Total
b $ $ b b

Loss rale 0.8% 7.9% 26.3% 81.0%

Contribution receivable 25,860 10,788 5126 31,535 73,309

Loss allowance 204 H53 1.351 25,548 27.956

The closing loss allowance for contnibutions receivables as al December 31. 2022 reconciled to the opemng
loss allowance is disclosed in Note 5,
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

23.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Jmp.ﬂurmr:ﬂt af Faamorrd assees er.nnr-'nlJm:rjl

The following table reconciles the movement in the expected credit loss allowance recognised in the statement
of comprehensive loss:

2022 b [ |

b b

Impairment losses on cash at banks 8 22
Impairment (recoveries)/losses on receivables and advances (33 38
Impairment losses on contributions recervable 3,788 2,089
Impairment losses on investment securities 5,704 14,572
9,467 16,721

Liquidity risk

Liquidily risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due. The Fund has no significant
short term obligations, and sufficient liquid assets are available to meet 1is obligations [or normal operating
purposes. The maturities of the Fund's financial assets are disclosed in their respective notes. Financial
lhiabilities are all due within one year.

Currency risk

The Fund is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from eurrency exposure primarily with respect to finaneial
assels denominated n the US dollar. The Bahamian dollar is pegged to the US dellar, therefore the Fund will
not be affected by changes in movements in the exchange rate. The Fund manages its currency risk through
limits set by the Invesiment Commiltee which are in line with the foreign exchange controls of the Central
Bank of The Bahamas. The Fund’s exposure to currency risk is noted in the currency for which mvestments
and cash are held all other financial assets are denominated in The Bahamian dollar.

4.  Contingent Liabilities

{a}  The Fund has provided commitment letters to various medical institutions and other providers of medical
care in relattion to ifs industrial benefit claimants. Due to the nature of these commitments, it is not
practicable o determine the possible financial effect.

(b}  The Fund is a party to several legal achions mmvelving its activities, The Fund is contingently hable for
costs and damages in the event of an adverse finding by the courts; however, it is neither possible to
predict the decision of the courts nor estimate the amount of such awards, with the exception of a legal
matier as disclosed in noie 29 Accordingly, ne provisions have been made in these consolidaied
financial statements relative 1o the legal proceedings. These legal aciions pnimanly involve construction
contracts, and employment related actions brought apainst the Fund by former employees. Management
is of the opinion that the resolution of these matiers will not have a material impact on the Fund’s
consalidated financial statements,



The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

25.  Commitments

-~
L-& piral commitments

Capital commutments contracled as al the consohdated statement ol linancial position date but not yet incwred

arc as follows:
2022 2021
b $
Capital commitments 204 1,406

26. Employees
The average number of persons employed by NIB during the vear was 638 (2021: 616).
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

27.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial instruments not
recogmsed in the Fund's consolidated stalement of financial posihon at fair value.

Carrying value Fair value

2022 01 2022 2021

$ b % 5

Cerlificates of deposil - 6.564 - 6,559

Long term deposit R477 8,230 6,551 6,444

Bahamas Govermmeni registered stocks 463 331 479 368 498,727 491 319

Bahamas Morigage Corporation bonds 95,594 45,894 93,891 91,580
Nasgan Airport Development Company Limited

debl securities 95,132 91,678 101,754 08,653
Education Loan Authority bonds 30,370 30,542 30,757 31,087
Bahamas Government USS notes 61,338 30.253 05310 33973
Bahamas Government US$ loan 12,150 13,513 13,623 13.840
Bahamas Power and Light Company Limited

bonds 18,576 18,573 19,339 19,874
Clifton Heritage Authority bonds 7.993 7.993 7,956 7980
Government of Barbados US$ bonds 2455 2453 2,527 2534
Loans to Bahamas Government entilics 55,584 58,104 41,307 42,647
Latin American Investment Bank (Bahamas)

Lid. bonds - 3,503 - 2,125
Bridge Authority bonds 1.856 1.856 1,951 1.987
Fidelily Bank (Bahamas) Lunited notes s 804 N ®l4
The College of The Bahamas redeemable term

noies 738 923 779 1,004
Government of Trinidad & Tobago 2046 2057 2.0m7 2018
Corporate USS bonds 1610 4.133 1.610 3.840
Bahamas Government BS Notes 1415 2,847 1,434 2851
Public Hospalal Authornity bonds 7429 g.104 7,040 7655
Be Aliv Note 00 1.000 107 1,166

867.294 #68,392 896,080 869,956
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes te the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

27.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments {Continued)

The canying amounts of current financial assets, preference shares, Bahamas Government treasury bills and
Linancial linbilitics represent their estimated [air values. Fair values for oll financial assets listed above are
determined using the discounted cash flow method. The cash flows are discounted at a rate representing the

markel rates of similar insinumentis.

Fair Value Hierarchy as at December 31, 2022

The table below disclosed the fair value hierarchy of invesimenis classified at amoriised cosi at December 31.

Certificates of deposit

Long term deposit

Bahamas Government registered stocks

Bahamas Mortgage Corporation bonds

Massau Airport Development Company Limited debt
securlies

Education Loan Authonty bonds

Bahamas Government USS notes

Bahamas Government US$ loan

Bahamas Power and Light Company Limnited bonds

Clifton Herntage Authority bonds

Government of Barbados TUSS bonds

Loans to Bahamas Government entities

Bridge Authority bonds

The College of The Bahamas redeemable term notes

Government of Trinidad & Tobago

Bahamas CGovernment B5 Notes

Public Hospital Authority bonds

Be Alv Note

Corporate 1S5 bonds

Fair

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 valuc
£ b3 8 5

- 6,551 - 6,551

- 498,727 - 498,727

- 93.89] - 93,891

- 101,754 = 101,754

: 30,757 = 30,757

- 0653310 - 65310

- 13,623 - 13,623

- 19,330 - 19,330

- 7.956 - 7.956

z 2,527 = 2527

- 41,307 - 41,307

- 1,951 - 1,951

- 779 - 779

- 2.017 - 2,017

- G610 - |.610

- L 434 - | 434

- 7,040 2 7,040
1,027 5 = 1,027
1.027 896,573 - 847,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemenis
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments {(Continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy as at December 31, 2021

Certificates of deposit

Long term deposit

Bahamas Government registered stocks

Bahamas Mortgage Corporation bonds

Nassau Adrport Development Company Limited debt
securities

Eduecation Loan Authority bonds

Bahamas Govemment 1S notes

Bahamas Government US% loan

Bahamas Power and Light Company Limited bonds

Chifion Hentage Authorly bonds

Governmeni of Barbados US$ bonds

Loans 1o Bahamas Government entities

Latin American Investment Bank (Bahamas) Lid.
bonds

Bridge Authority bonds

Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited notes

The College of The Bahamas redeemable term notes

Govemnment of Trinidad & Tobago

Bahamas Government BS Notes

Public Hospital Authority bonds

Be Aliv Noie

Corporate [S$ bonds

Fair

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value
b b3 $ b
6,559 - 6,559

- 0444 - 6,444

- 491,319 - 491,319
91,580 - 91,580

- 98,653 - 98,053
31,087 - 31,087

- 33973 - 33973

o 13,840 - 13,840
19874 - 19,874

- 7980 - 7.980

- 2,534 - 2,534

- 42,047 - 42,647

- 2,125 - 2,125

- 1,987 - 1,987

814 - 814

- 1,004 - 1,004

= 2018 - 2018
2851 - 2 851

£ T.635 i 7.653

- 1,166 - 1,166
3,846 - - 3846
3.846 866,110 - 869,956

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 dunng the year (2021 $Nil).

THE NATIONAL INSURANCE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2022



The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

28,

Related Party Balances and Transactions

Related parties include its subsidiary: associates: ministries and corporations of The Bahamas Government;
agencies and entities controlled by The Bahamas Government or in which The Bahamas Government has a
significant ownership interest; key managemen! personnel; close family members of key management
personnel; and entities owned or conirolled by key management personmel. Key management personmel include
those having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Fund.
Balances and (ransactions between the Fund and its related parties are disclosed below:

Key
Associates Managemient
Personnel
2022 2021 2021 2021
5 b 4 %
Cash al bank 689 (221) - -
Receivahles
and advances - - 13 7
Accounts
payable and
accrucd
EXPelses 22 46 205 159

Contributions 1.571
Administraiive

expenses 1493
Benefils -

2,184 40 TZ3

206 : <
- - L116

Close Family
Members of Key
Mamuwgement
Persomnel

2022 2021
5 %

¥

Other
Covernmenfal
The Bahamas l::ﬂ::;::u
Government v

2022 2021 022 2021
s ] b b
- - B7.251 65003
5579 154483 8179 TOL1
i 11 150 82
InarT 28742  1LT49 10776
- 1,084 1,210

Total
2022 2021
5 s
87,940 64,782
62771 161,503
383 3y
50,639 42,427
1,287 1,416
. 1,116

Receivable amounts and advances outstanding from related parties are interest-bearing and will be settled in
cash. No guarantees have been received and no provision for doubtful accounts has been made in respect of the
amounts owed by related parties.

The remuneration of the directors and other members of key management personnel of the Fund are sel out
below in aggrepate for each of the categories specified in TAS 24 Rerarea Parey Dhaciozvies:

Short-term cmployee benefits
Post-employment benefits

022 2021
§ b
2,163 1500
247 311
2410 2,111

These balances are included in admmistrative expenditure in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.
Transactions entered mto by the Fund with its associates include mvestments and related mcome which are
disclosed in Notes 7{m), and 10 of these consclidated financial statements,

As at December 31, 2022, other related party investment balances are disclosed below and the associated
investment income is disclosed in Note 17 of these consolidated financial statements.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateménts
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

28.

29.

Related Party Balances and Transactions (Continued)

Mores
DBahamas Government registered stocks T(a)
Bahamas Mortgage Corporation boends gl
Neb imvestment in finance leases o
Massau Anrport Development Company Limited debl secunties TG)
Hank of the Bahamas certificmes of deposil T(h)
Eduecatien Loan Awthorniy honds T(kK)
Bahamas Government USS note T(d)
Pahamas Power and Light Company Limited bonds 7
Cable Bahamas preference shares T (m)
Clifton Heritage Authotity bonds T ()
Investment propaity 2
Latin Americant Investment Bank (Bahamas) Lid, bonds T(0)
Loans to Bahamas Government entities Tip)
Bridge Anthority bonds Tir)
The Collepe of The Bahamas redeemable team notes T{1)
Puhlic Hospiml Authority honds 7(u)
Bahamas Government B notes T(h)
Bahamas Government TIS8 loan T{e)
Bahamas Government Treasary bills T{e)

Events After the Reporting Period

Assefs Income
022 2n21 M2z o1
b ] 5 $ s
463,331 479,368 21,274 23,907
93,854 93,594 3338 3335
228577 230,218 10,784 140,797
95,132 91,678 6,950 6,729
- 3,000 i6 219
370 30,342 1,253 1,002
f1,338 30,253 4203 2,06
18,576 18,573 1,221 1,627
4,500 8,500 242 242
7.993 7993 358 £l
3.307 3307 3298 3270
- 3.503 . -
55,584 38,104 2078 2,540
1,836 1,856 106 106
738 923 38 71
7429 B 104 465 509
1415 1847 a3 136
12,150 13,513 1,174 1082
1.761 1717 1,112 89
1,193,951 1,089,893 S8ATT 55,499

(a.) On April 28, 2023, the Supreme Courl of the Bahamas (The Supreme Court) issued ifs ruling against the
Fund in relation to an ongoing employment matter. On June 9, 2023, the Fund filed an appeal to the Court
of Appeal seeking to set aside the judgement and the appeal is now pending. Management believes that the
legal matler does nof have a malerial efTect on the consolidated linancial siatements as of December 31,

2022,

(b} Tn June 2023, The Government of the Bahamas announced effective July 2024, that there would be an

mecrease in the contribution rate.
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
(Continued)

30. Investments of the Fund Allocated to the Reserves

Shore- Disahlement Fidelity
Term Pensioms Industrial Medical and Death Bond Total
h $ b ] 5 b 5 5
As at December 31, 2022
Cash ar the Central Bank of The Bohamas 3R,000 46565 2120 = - Sk B7.241
Investments at fair valoe through profit or loss
Ordinary shares / Mutual funds - 41,000 3462 . - - 2462
Preference shares - 4,615 337 6,011 2001 - 11,153
= 45 615 31,790 6001 200 . §3.615
Bahumes Covernment registered stocks - 463,311 - - - - 463331
Bahamas Morgage Corporation bonds 50,747 17,566 8,581 10.000 - - 95,804
Massan Airport Development Company Limited
debt securities - 95,132 - - - - 95,132
Fducaton Loan Authonty bonds - 30370 . - . . 30370
Bahaimas Governinent USS notes - 61,338 - - - - 61,338
Rahamas Crovernment LSS loan = 12,150 = = = = 12,150

m
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The National Insurance Fund

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dollars)
{Continued)

3. Investments of the Fund Allocated to the Reserves (Continued)

Short- Disableme nt Fidelity
Term Pensions Imdustrial Medical and Death Bond Total
b b1 b b b b 3
As at December 31, 2021
Cash at the Central Bank of The Bahamas 24,643 37.674 2,120 - - Shte £5,003
Investments at thir value throwgh profic or loss
Credinary shares / Mutual funds - G000 - - - - 60,000
Preference shares - 12,070 - 1,04Hs 2,003 - 15,0740
- 72070 - 1,001} 2,000 - 73,070
Centificates of deposi
Bank of The Bahamass Limited 1,000 2000 - - - - 3,000
Fidelity Bank (Bahamas) Limited - 3,000 03 - 437 - 3,500
Firat Coribbenn Intemational Bank (Bahamas) B = = - = - N
Acerued nterest - 64 - - - - &4
1,004 5,064 03 - 437 - 6,504
Babamas CGovernment regstered stocky - 479,368 - - - - 479,368
Bahamas Mortgage Comporation bonds 28078 57,302 9.517 - - - 05,894
Massau Auport Developawent Company Linited
debt securities - 91,678 - - - - 91,678
Education Loan Authooty bonds - 30,542 - - - - 30,542
Bahamas Government 1SS notes - 30,253 - - - - 30,253

Bahamas Government US3 joan - 13.313 - - - - 13,513

13
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The National Insurance Fund

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Thousands of Bahamian dellars)
(Continued)

3l.  Actuarial Review (Unaudited)

The 11" Actuarial Review of the Fund was conducted as of December 31, 2018 at that time the Fund had
reserves of $1.74 billion. The projeciions were extended for a sixty-year period.

The report further indicates that the current contribution rate would be insuflicient o pay benefits in the long
term and recommends an immediate increase in the contribution rate,

The report mcludes a number of recommendations for changes in the asdminisiration of the Fund. These
recommendations, if implemented, should result in the Fund being able to meet its challenges in the long term.
While the Fund 1s meeting all of its obligations as they fall due if no pension reform s unplemented the Fund
15 projected to be depleted 1n 2028. The projected low birth rate and mcreasing life expectancy results in a
decreasing contributor to pensioner ratio which will result in the reduction of the reserve.
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TABLE 1. NEW REGISTRATION OF EMPLOYERS & SELF-EMPLOYED PERSONS

Island/Local Office

Abaco
Marsh Harbour
Coopers Town

All Abaco

Andros
Fresh Creek
Kemps Bay
Mangrove Cay
Nicholls Town

All Andros

Bimini & Berry Islands

Catlsland

Crooked Island & Acklins

Eleuthera
Governors Harbour
Harbour Island
Rock Sound
Spanish Wells & North
Eleuthera

All Eleuthera

Exuma & Ragged Island

Grand Bahama

Inagua & Mayaguana

LongIsland
Deadmans Cay
Simms

All Long Island

New Providence

San Salvador

Total

2022

Employers Self-Employed

504 261
504 261
16 31
55 56
210 n
B58 98
107 43
100 10
48 14
59 62
72 60
133 129
264 251
19 316
1,277 473
62 13
10 68

7 30

17 98
10,972 8555
26 12
13,855 3,144

Total

765

765

147
89

221

457
150
10

62

121
132

262

515
435
1,750
75

78
37
15
12,527
38
16,999

2021

Employers Self~Employed

573 367
573 367
61 60
47 92
319 260
427 412
103 50
61 37
68 6
39 96

4 32

34 95
77 223
108 463
1,474 571
79 16
18 86

= 14

18 100
10,896 1,404
17 45
13,901 3,694

940

940

121
139

579
839
153

74

135
36

129

300
571
2,045
95

104

14

118
12,300
62
17,595
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TABLE 2. NEW REGISTRATION OF INSURED PERSONS

2022 2021
Island/Local Office
Active Inactive Total Active Inactive

Abaco

Marsh Harbour 328 638 966 65 373 438

Coopers Town - - - - - -
All Abaco 328 638 966 65 373 438
Andros

Fresh Creek 22 59 81 2 39 41

Kemps Bay - 27 27 3 23 26

Mangrove Cay - - - - - -

Nicholls Town 5 49 54 - 43 43
All Andros 27 135 162 5 105 10
Bimini & Berry Islands 12 149 261 5 102 107
Catlisland 3 14 17 - 13 13
Crooked Island & Acklins 1 15 16 1 7 8
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour - - - - - -

Harbour Island 90 63 153 3 59 62

Rock Sound 51 62 n3 4 24 28

Spanish Wells & North 138 104 242 4 51 55

Eleuthera
All Eleuthera 279 229 508 N 134 145
Exuma & Ragged Island 18 188 306 22 170 192
Grand Bahama 163 1,002 1,165 226 926 1,152
Inagua & Mayaguana 3 30 33 - 20 20
Long Island

Deadmans Cay 1 22 23 - 24 24

Simms 2 12 14 - 9 9
All Long Island 3 34 37 - 33 33
New Providence 1,036 8,680 9,716 272 4,445 4,717
San Salvador 20 75 95 - 17 17
Total 2,093 1,189 13,282 607 6,345 6,952
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TABLE 3. TOTAL NET CONTRIBUTION INCOME, 2022

Island/Local Office Employers Employees E:n?l:;e d U::: :::;y :;:::::'::;
Abaco

Marsh Harbour 4,606,726 3,248,793 E61108 - 1,300 8,527,927 6,865,435

Coopers Tawn - - - - = = =
All Abaco 4,606,726 3,248,793 661108 - 1300 8,527,927 6,865,435
Andros

Fresh Creek 288,464 166,385 41,346 - - 496,195 689,328

Kemps Bay 141,588 95,660 48,666 - - 285,924 221231

Mangrove Cay . - - - - - -

Michalls Town 261,489 172,560 42,482 - - 476,530 450,333
All Andros 691,550 434,605 132,494 - - 1,258,649 1,360,892
Bimini & Berry Islands 422,693 284,865 102103 - - B09,662 763,090
Cat Island 52,800 32,441 30,728 = - 124,978 127,941
Crooked Island & Acklins 21,768 14,582 50,871 = 100 B7 42 74,141
Eleuthera

i 602,898 466,333 139,625 . 3323 1,212,180 1,042,440

Harbour island 1,161,124 1,149,619 156,277 2 5,141 2,472,161 1,800,222

Rock Sound 516,857 342114 102,713 - - 961,684 751,618

iii?sgx‘i::r: 1,424 573 13,097 408,668 = 342 2,746,679 2,582,181
All Eleuthera 3,705,452 2,871)63 BO7,284 - B,BO6 7,392,705 6,276,460
Exuma & Ragged Island 1,908,812 524,504 371,61 : 132 2,805,150 2,051,814
Grand Bahama 5,064,595 6,044,044 509,135 . 34,451 15,652,326 15,273,324
Inagua & Mayaguana 192,949 127,050 24910 = - 344,909 391,786
Long Island

Deadmans Cay 180,030 114,597 212,683 : 850 508,154 425,587

simms 155,437 118,745 B7.640 = = 341822 246,934
All Long Island 315,467 233,336 300,324 - 850 849,977 672,521
Mew Providence 148,263,291 99,609,912 4,587,805 4,147 5,887 252,471,142 223,756,440
San Salvador 97513 65,236 16,355 - = 175,104 73,826

169,543,726 13,490,621 7,605,926 61,526 290,503,948 257,687,671

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 4. TOTAL CONTRIBUTION INCOME, 2018 - 2022

Contribution Income ("000s)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Employers $169,760 $150,637 $131,608 $165,016 $164,459
Employees $113,771 $101,472 $89,456 $115,266 $111,177
Self-employed $7,604 $5,975 $5,196 $6,870 $8,010
Voluntarily Insured $4 $11 $1 5 $5
Installment Agreements $62 $91 $160 $703 $1,067
Refund of Contributions ($697) ($499) ($437) ($730) ($779)
Total ('OOO0s) $290,504 $257,687 $225,984 $287,131 $283,939
Employers 12,488 12,083 13,569 13,801 12,521
Employees 133,000 137,000 153,000 148,000 143,000
Self-employed 8,566 7,479 9,175 10,527 9,631
Voluntarily Insured 3 1 2 1 1
Installment Agreements n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Total Contributors 154,057 156,563 175,746 172,329 165,153

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 5. BENEFIT & ASSISTANCE CLAIMS RECEIVED AND AWARDED

Benefit Type 2022 2021 2022 2021
Retirement Benefit 3,541 3,605 2,806 2,539
Retirement Grant n/a n/a 287 242
Invalidity Benefit 267 266 189 128
Long-term  5,\/ivors' Benefit 1,101 1178 837 553
Benefits/
Assistance Survivors' Grant n/a n/a 290 180
Old Age Non-Contributory Pension 230 233 n7z 42
Invalidity Assistance 108 m 87 28
Survivors' Assistance 60 63 13 4
Total Long-term 5,307 5,456 4,626 3,716
Sickness Benefit 12,345 11,389 10,467 9,769
Maternity Benefit 2,966 3,025 2,036 2,050
Short-term Maternity Grant 2,966 3,025 2,742 2,720
Benefits  ryneral Benefit 2,290 2,916 2,326 2,882
Unemployment Benefit 4,329 3,687 3,526 3,407
Sickness Assistance 0 (0] o 0
Total Short-term 24,896 24,042 21,097 20,828
Medical Care 3,709 2,738 2,459 1,931
Injury Benefit 1,834 1,357 1,630 1,176
Industrial ) :
Benefits Disablement Benefit & Grant 207 166 25 31
Industrial Death 2 9 0 0
Industrial Funeral 0 ¢} 0 0
Total Industrial 5,752 4,270 4,114 3,138
All Benefits 35,955 33,768 29,837 27,682
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TABLE 6. SHORT-TERM BENEFIT & ASSISTANCE CLAIMS AWARDED, 2022

Sickness Matemity Matemity Funeral Unemployment Sickness

Island/Local Office

Benefit Benefit Grant Benefit Benefit Assistance

Abaco

Marsh Harbour 201 64 81 31 127 - 504

Coopers Town - - - - - - -
All Abaco 201 64 81 31 127 = 504
Andros

Fresh Creek 61 11 21 4 81 - 178

Kemps Bay 46 10 12 - 76 - 144

Mangrove Cay - - - - - - -

Nicholls Town 62 10 16 1 46 = 135
All Andros 169 31 49 5 203 = 457
Bimini & Berry Islands 110 14 18 4 20 - 166
Catisland 61 4 4 = 22 o 91
Crooked Island & Acklins 13 = - - 3 - 16
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour 48 12 16 2 26 - 104

Harbour Island - 13 16 2 42 - 73

Rock Sound 66 14 20 4 23 = 127

e S m =
All Eleuthera 172 65 82 52 165 - 536
Exuma & Ragged Island 226 32 27 6 95 - 386
Grand Bahama 892 289 412 432 694 = 2,719
Inagua & Mayaguana 45 3 4 10 34 - 96
Long Island

Deadmans Cay 57 10 M 1 69 - 148

Simms = = o = = o =
All Long Island 57 10 n 1 69 = 148
New Providence 8,507 1,522 2,050 1,785 2,082 - 15,946
San Salvador 14 2 4 - 12 - 32

10,467 21,097
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TABLE 7. SHORT-TERM BENEFIT & ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS, 2022

. Sickness Matemity Matemity Funeral  Unemployment Sickness

Lo ) Benefit Benefit Grant Benefit Benefit Assistance
Abaco

Marsh Harbour 200,678 209,047 42,600 55,421 272,394 = 780,139

Coopers Town - - - - - - -
All Abaco 200,678 209,047 42,600 55,421 272,394 = 780,139
Andros

Fresh Creek 54,646 23,009 10,855 7,720 152,962 = 249,192

Kemps Bay 39,788 23,395 6,740 - 157,016 - 226,939

Mangrove Cay - - - - - - -

Nicholls Town 28,694 26,033 8,270 1,810 101,458 - 166,266
All Andros 123,128 72,438 25,865 9,530 411,436 = 642,397
Biminl & Berry Islands 90,165 37,054 9,875 7,720 40,785 - 185,600
Catlisland 38,562 14,326 2,090 = 26,563 = 81,542
Crooked Island & Acklin: 6,735 - - - 7,622 - 14,357
Eleuthera

Governors Harbou 41,199 34,977 9,375 3,710 56,923 - 146,183

Harbour Island - 39,496 8,300 1,900 94,656 - 144,352

Rock Sound 78,885 37,226 9,935 7,660 41,879 = 175,585

i‘zart”r:sggjjzj 96,244 80,841 15,660 84,404 194,871 - 472,019
All Eleuthera 216,328 192,539 43,270 97,674 388,329 = 938,139
Exuma & Ragged Island 151,471 100,493 14,560 11,460 216,966 - 494,950
Grand Bahama 1,090,138 850,458 213,465 832,980 1,436,737 = 4,423,778
Inagua & Mayaguana 39,169 6,624 2,075 19,480 105,143 - 172,491
Long Island

Grays 28,112 27,978 5,740 3,710 95,608 = 161,148

Simms - - 515 - - - 515
All Long Island 28,112 27,978 6,255 3,710 95,608 = 161,663
New Providence 9,177,220 4,974,396 1,052,370 &5, 523 4,578,252 - 23,313,761
San Salvador 21,004 7,475 2,575 = 22,488 = 53,542

1,182,709 6,492,828 1,415,000 4,569,498 7,602,324 31,262,359

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 8. LONG-TERM BENEFIT & ASSISTANCE CLAIMS AWARDED, 2022

Retirement Retirement Invalidity Survivors’ Survivors' OANCP Invalidity  Survivors'
Benefit Grant Benefit Benefit Grant Assistance Assistance
Abaco
Marsh Harbour 100 1 9 33 17 9 7 - 186
Coopers Town 1 - - - - - - - 1
All Abaco 101 n © 515, 17 ) 7 - 187
Andros
Fresh Creek 20 5 5 16 i3 = o o 49
Kemps Bay 5 1 2 2 - - 2 - 12

Mangrove Cay - - - - - - - - -

Nicholls Town 1 2 3 3 1 1 - - 21
All Andros 36 8 10 21 4 1 2 - 82
Bimini & Berry Islands 26 4 - 4 1 3 1 - 39
Catlsland 14 2 1 2 = 5 1 = 25
Crooked Island & Acklins 8 - - - - - - - 8
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour 17 i3 1 10 = = = = 31

Harbour Island 13 1 - 7 1 1 - - 23

Rock Sound 26 2 3 5 - - - = 36

E:Zau:::r\a/\/ells & North ) 9 1 10 3 ) ) ) 48
All Eleuthera 88 8 5 32 4 1 - - 138
Exuma & Ragged Island 41 1 4 12 5 1 2 1 67
Grand Bahama 533 71 54 138 56 40 28 2 922
Inagua & Mayaguana 26 - - 4 2 2 - - 34
Long Island

Deadmans Cay 26 - 2 10 2 - 1 - 41

Simms = = = = = = = = =
All Long Island 26 - 2 10 2 - 1 - 41
New Providence 1,894 180 104 580 199 55 44 10 3,066
San Salvador 13 2 = 1 = = 1 - 17
Total 2,806 287 189 837 290 nz :74 13 4,626
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TABLE 9. LONG-TERM BENEFIT & ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS, 2022

Island/Local Office Retirement Invalidity Survivors' OANCP Invalidity Survisors'
Benefit Benefit Benefit Assistance  Assistance

Abaco

Marsh Harbour 8,400,190 522,832 1,115,407 338,015 358,384 40,193 10,775,020

Coopers Town 206,439 - 20,895 - 3,492 - 230,826
All Abaco 8,606,629 522,832 1,136,302 338,015 361,876 40,193 11,005,846
Andros

Fresh Creek 880,082 89,077 163,338 33,152 48,038 1,396 1,215,085

Kemps Bay 927,800 55,274 144,605 64,862 111,930 13,969 1,318,440

Mangrove Cay 49,608 - 3,255 - - - 52,863

Nicholls Town 895,632 105,724 112,682 108,982 142,301 9,680 1,375,001
All Andros 2,753,122 250,076 423,880 206,996 302,269 25,046 3,961,389
Biminl & Berry Islands 1,628,025 52,049 138,898 75,010 63,083 = 1,957,064
Catlsland 796,401 56,299 73,699 65,268 67,976 3,492 1,063,134
Crooked Island & Acklins 393,424 14,383 16,886 10,477 16,871 = 452,041
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour 2,943,210 114,164 257,698 41,318 76,832 8,419 3,441,641

Harbour Island 1,539,554 43,232 116,601 19,629 34,637 = 1,753,652

Rock Sound 1,699,154 207,660 166,282 65,130 123,979 8,318 2,270,522

ZZ?:QSS!:;'Z: 3,489,141 108,570 385,554 56,165 54,934 2,793 4,097,156
All Eleuthera 9,671,058 473,625 926,135 182,241 290,381 19,530 11,562,971
Exuma & Ragged Island 3,155,253 285,942 327,802 43,066 120,746 6,985 3,939,793
Grand Bahama 42,729,817 2,516,985 4,343,253 861,051 1,510,215 93,788 52,055,110
Inagua & Mayaguana 1,210,209 40,512 104,103 15,613 10,477 - 1,380,914
Long island

Grays 1,868,046 79,914 191,478 32,292 82,117 13,969 2,267,816

Simms 256,976 8,200 25,033 3,492 27,349 = 321,052
All Long Island 2,125,022 88,114 216,513 35,784 109,466 13,969 2,588,868
New Providence 175,628,215 9,516,619 17,042,893 2,704,707 5,774,563 298,365 210,965,362
San Salvador 578,986 8,134 48,551 17,462 55,551 = 708,683

249,276,161 13,825,571 24,798,915 4,555,691 501,367 301,641,180

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 10. INDUSTRIAL BENEFIT CLAIMS AWARDED, 2022

. Injury Disabler.nent Industrial Industrial
Island/Local Office Medical Care Benefit Benefit & Death Funeral
Grant

Abaco

Marsh Harbour 42 37 = = = 79

Coopers Town - - - - - -
All Abaco 42 37 - - - 79
Andros

Fresh Creek - 1 - - - 1

Kemps Bay = 4 - = = 4

Nicholls Town - 3 - - = 3
All Andros - 8 - - - 8
Bimini & Berry Islands 7 5 - - - 12
Catisland - 1 - - - 1
Crooked Island & Acklins - 1 - - - 1
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour = g = = = 3

Harbour Island - 5 - - - 5

Rock Sound = 7 - - - 7

Sy : 2 : : : 2
All Eleuthera - 27 - - - 27
Exuma & Ragged Island - 31 - - - 31
Grand Bahama 138 83 3 = = 224
Inagua & Mayaguana - 1 - - - 1
Long Island

Deadmans Cay - 2 - - - 2

Simms = = = = = =
All Long Island - 2 - - - 2
New Providence 2,270 1,431 22 - - 3,723
San Salvador 2 3 - - - 5
Total 2,459 1,630 25 - - 4,114
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TABLE 11. INDUSTRIAL BENEFIT PAYMENTS, 2022

Medical Inju Disablement Industrial

Island/Local Office Care Bejner:,it Benefit & Grant Death
Abaco

Marsh Harbour 1,822 31,363 144,772 1,531 179,488

Coopers Town - - - - =
All Abaco 1,822 31,363 144,772 1,531 179,488
Andros

Fresh Creek - 5,673 28,048 - 33,721

Kemps Bay 422 1,034 28,409 - 29,865

Mangrove Cay - - - - -

Nicholls Town - 2,475 12,857 - 15,332
All Andros 422 9,182 69,314 = 78,918
Bimini & Berry Islands - 2,595 29,503 - 32,098
Catlisland = 206 3,492 = 3,698
Crooked Island & Acklins - 217 - - 217
Eleuthera

Governors Harbour 513 2,316 25,526 2,493 30,848

Harbour Island - 10,210 16,722 - 26,932

Rock Sound 240 3,868 31,602 = 35,710

Spanish Wells & - 11,098 96,533 4,254 111,886

North Eleuthera
All Eleuthera 753 27,492 170,384 6,748 205,376
Exuma & Ragged Island 2,884 32,692 79,703 - 115,279
Grand Bahama 41,280 178,952 931,717 53,200 1,205,149
Inagua & Mayaguana = 1,136 11,459 = 12,595
Longisland

Grays - 917 38,416 - 39,333

Simms = = = = =
All Long Island - 917 38,416 = 39,333
New Providence 7,600,835 4,100,100 6,923,726 12,829 18,737,490
San Salvador - 7,313 8,553 - 15,866

7,647,996 4,392,164 8,411,039 174,307 20,625,506

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 12. PENSIONS IN PAYMENT AT YEAR-END, 2018 - 2022

Long-term Benefits

Retirement Benefit 31,361 30,066 29,068 27,747 26,538
Invalidity Benefit 2,659 2,647 2,738 2,797 2,794
Survivor's Benefit 6,008 5,704 5,956 5,788 5,650
Old-Age Non-Cont. Pension 1,191 1,223 1,354 1,438 1,542
Invalidity Assistance 2,349 2,379 2,474 2,523 2,571
Survivor's Assistance 161 176 192 204 216
Total 43,729 42,195 41,782 40,497 39,31
Disablement 1,272 1,288 1,291 1,264 1,173
Industrial Death 31 37 41 4 50
Total 1,303 1,325 1,332 1,305 1,223
All Benefits 45,032 43,520 43,114 41,802 40,534
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TABLE 13. SHORT-TERM BENEFITS & ASSISTANCE, 2018 - 2022

Amount Pald ("0O00s)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Sickness Benefit 51,183 $11,095 8772 512,504 $13,183
Maternity Benefit 36,493 56,022 $7,751 $8,108 $7477
Maternity Grant $1,415 $1,318 $1,401 $1,544 $1.5M
Funeral Benefit 54,569 $5394 34,268 53412 $3.431
Unemployment Benefit $7,602 $4.017 $107,647 $16,301 1,707
Slckness Assistance 30 $0 §0 $0 ($0)
Total Pald ('000s) $31,262 $27846  $129.840 $41868 $37.308
Sickness Benefit 10,467 8,769 7.071 12,494 12,272
Maternity Benefit 2,036 2,050 2329 2,808 2,452
Maternity Grant 2,742 2720 2,764 3,269 2,956
Funeral Benefit 2,326 2,882 2,236 1966 1,891
Unemployment Benefit 5,526 5407 44182 FANF 5,974
Slckness Asslstance - " - - :
Total Awarded 21,097 20,828 58,582 27,654 25,552

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 14. LONG-TERM BENEFITS & ASSISTANCE, 2018 - 2022

Amount Paid ('O00s)
2021

Retirement Benefit & Grant $249,276 $231,064 $208,899 $195,261 $179,357
Invalidity Benefit $13,826 $13,661 $13,569 $14,513 $14,910
Survivor's Benefit & Grant $24,799 $24,015 $22,493 $22,326 $21,647
Old-Age Non-Cont. Pension $4,556 $4,720 $4,809 $5,063 $5,183
Invalidity Assistance $8,683 $8,537 $8,514 $8,704 $8,681
Survivor's Assistance $501 $588 $557 $603 $733
Total Paid ("OOOs) $301,641  $282,585 $258,841 $246,470  $230,512
Retirement Benefit & Grant 3,093 2,781 2,629 2,407 2,027
Invalidity Benefit 189 128 133 197 150
Survivor's Benefit & Grant 1,127 733 846 723 734
Old-Age Non-Cont. Pension 17 42 79 51 97
Invalidity Assistance 87 28 41 73 59
Survivor's Assistance 13 4 6 1 14
Total Awarded 4,626 3,716 3,734 3,464 3,081

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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TABLE 15. INDUSTRIAL BENEFITS, 2018 - 2022

Amount Paid ("O00s)

Medical Care $7,648 $5,899 $6,360 $10,694 $11,845
Injury Benefit $4,392 $2,872 $2,852 $4,470 $3,976
Disablement Benefit & Grant $8,413 $8,063 $7,767 $7,908 $7,831
Industrial Death $174 $208 $216 $230 $282
Industrial Funeral* $2 $0 $0 $2 $0
Total Paid ("OOOs) $20,629 $17,042 $17,195 $23,304 $23,934
Medical Care 2,459 1,931 1,426 3,586 3,851
Injury Benefit 1,630 1,176 1,115 2,260 2,016
Disablement Benefit & Grant 25 31 54 53 41

Industrial Death = - - - -
Industrial Funeral 5 - - - -

Total Awarded 4,114 3,138 2,595 5,899 5,908

Note: Totals may not balance due to rounding.
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2022 CHARTING THE COURSE



